
 

 
 

Agenda 

 

Page 1 

Planning Committee 
 

Time and Date 
2.00 pm on Thursday, 31st August, 2023 
 
Place 
Committee Room 3 - Council House 
 

 

 
 
1. Apologies for Absence   

 
2. Declarations of Interest   

 
3. Members Declarations of Contact on Planning Applications   
 

 Members are reminded that contacts about any planning applications on this 
agenda must, unless reported to this meeting by the Strategic Lead for 
Planning, be declared before the application is considered. 
 

4. Minutes of Previous Meeting held on 20 July 2023  (Pages 3 - 8) 
 

5. Late Representations   
 

 To be circulated at the meeting. 
 

6. Application OUT/2022/2259 - Land at Browns Lane  (Pages 9 - 60) 
 

 Report of the Strategic Lead for Planning  
 

7. Application PL/2023/0001356/PAEC - 16 Quinton Road  (Pages 61 - 72) 
 

 Report of the Strategic Lead for Planning  
 

8. Outstanding Issues   
 

 There are no outstanding issues. 
 

9. Any other items of public business which the Chair decides to take as 
matters of urgency because of the special circumstances involved   
 

 

Julie Newman, Chief Legal Officer, Council House, Coventry 
 
Wednesday, 23 August 2023 
 
Note: The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is 
Carolyn Sinclair / Usha Patel carolyn.sinclair@coventry.gov.uk  / 

Public Document Pack



Page 2 

usha.patel@coventry.gov.uk 
 
 
Membership: Councillors N Akhtar, P Akhtar, R Bailey, J Gardiner, L Harvard (Chair), 
A Kaur, T  Khan (Deputy Chair), G Lloyd, K Maton, C Miks and R Simpson  
 
By invitation Councillor D Welsh (Cabinet Member for Housing and Communities) 
 
 
 

Carolyn Sinclair / Usha Patel  
carolyn.sinclair@coventry.gov.uk  / usha.patel@coventry.gov.uk 
 
 



 
– 1 – 

 

Coventry City Council 
Minutes of the Meeting of Planning Committee held at 2.00 pm on Thursday, 20 

July 2023 
 

Present:  

Members: Councillor L Harvard (Chair) 

 Councillor N Akhtar 
Councillor P Akhtar 
Councillor R Bailey 
Councillor J Gardiner 
Councillor G Lloyd 
Councillor C Miks 
Councillor R Simpson 
 

Other Members: Councillors A Hopkins, A Jobbar, A Masih and M Lapsa 

 
Employees (by Directorate):  

Planning and Regulation:  
 
 
 
 
Highways and 
Transportation: 
 
 
Law and Governance: 

A Lynch 
J Orton 
D Taylor 
O Williams 
 
N Benison 
A Le Marinel 
B Malin 
 
M Howarth 
U Patel 
T Robinson 
C Sinclair 
 

Apologies: Councillor A Kaur, K Maton and D Welsh  
 

 
Public Business 
 
10. Declarations of Interest  

 
Councillor R Simpson declared a disclosable pecuniary interest in the matter 
referred to in Minute 14 below (Application PL/2023/0000654/FULM – Progress 
House, Westwood Way).  He left the meeting during the consideration and voting 
on this item. 
 

11. Members Declarations of Contact on Planning Applications  
 
The Members named declared contacts on the following application as indicated:  
 

Application No.  Councillor  From 

PL/2023/0000654/FULM – Progress 
House, Westwood Way 

All members of 
Committee 

Developer 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



 

 
– 2 – 

 

 
 

12. Minutes of Previous Meeting held on 25 May 2023  
 
The Minutes of the meeting held on 25 May 2023 were signed as a true record.  
 

13. Late Representations  
 
The Committee noted a tabled report which summarised late representations and 
responses on the following: 
 

Application Site Minute 

PL/2023/0000654/FULM Progress House, Westwood Way 14 

PL/2023/0000606/FULM Wyken Working Men’s Club, 219-225 Ansty 
Road 

15 

FUL/2022/3133 Codys Court, Silverdale Close 16 

 
 

14. Application PL/2023/0000654/FULM - Progress House, Westwood Way  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Strategic Lead for Planning detailing the 
above application for the demolition of existing office building and erection of new 
building comprising student accommodation (Use Class Sui Generis) and 
commercial, business and service accommodation (Use Class E), amenity spaces, 
car parking, landscaping and associated works. The Committee were 
recommended to delegate the grant of planning permission to the Strategic Lead 
for Planning subject to the completion of a S106 Legal Agreement to secure the 
contributions summarised in the report.  
 
The Late Representations document tabled at the meeting and further to 
paragraph 2.6 of the published report, amended plans had been received from the 
agents addressing the front elevation in order to assist with a reduction in the 
massing. As a result, Condition 2 would be amended to reflect the plan 
substitutions. A summary of the changes and plan substitutions were detailed in 
the Late Representations document.  
 
The Committee considered three petitions, objecting to the application bearing a 
total of 1488 signatures sponsored by Councillors Masih, Jobbar and Lapsa, 
Westwood Ward Councillors.  The Ward Councillors and two of the petition 
spokespersons attended the meeting and spoke in respect of their objections to 
the application. A statement was read on behalf of the other petition 
spokesperson. Two further registered speakers attended the meeting and spoke in 
respect of their objections to the application. The Applicant’s representative was 
also present and spoke in support of the application.  
 
Following consideration of the report, the late representations document and 
matters raised at the meeting, the Committee expressed concerns regarding the 
provision of car parking spaces and more specifically, the insufficient number of 
disabled parking spaces in relation to the size of development. The Committee 
further considered that the proposal would result in an over-development of the 
site, it does not fit in with the streetscene and would have a detrimental impact on 
the neighbouring community.  

Page 4



 

 
– 3 – 

 

 
 
RESOLVED that planning permission be refused in respect of Application 
PL/2023/0000654/FULM for reasons of over-development, it does not fit in 
with the streetscene due to height and massing and would have an adverse 
impact on the neighbouring community.   
 
 Note: Councillor R Simpson, having declared an interest, withdrew from the 

meeting during consideration of this item. 
 
 

15. Application PL/2023/0000606/FULM - Wyken Working Men's Club, 219-225 
Ansty Road, Coventry  

 
The Committee considered a report of the Strategic Lead for Planning detailing the 
above application for change of use of first floor function and committee rooms to 
provide bed and breakfast accommodation. The application was recommended for 
approval subject to conditions.  
 
The Late Representations document tabled at the meeting informed of a petition 
bearing 21 signatures that had been received following publication of the agenda. 
The document also reported a minor amendment to Condition 2 in relation to 
drawings of the proposed elevations.  
 
The Committee considered a petition bearing 21 signatures sponsored by 
Councillor A Hopkins, a Wyken Ward Councillor. Councillor Hopkins spoke on 
behalf of local residents and on behalf of the petition spokesperson in respect of 
their objections to the application. The Applicant and their representative attended 
the meeting and spoke in support of the application.  
 
RESOLVED that planning permission be granted in respect of Application 
PL/2023/0000606/FULM subject to conditions detailed in the report.  
 
 

16. Application FUL/2022/3133 - Codys Court, Silverdale Close Coventry  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Strategic Lead for Planning outlining the 
above application for the construction of three dwellings houses with associated 
landscaping and parking. The application was recommended for approval subject 
to conditions.  
 
The Late Representations document tabled at the meeting appraised further 
neighbour responses received following publication of the report and provided 
information on amendments to Conditions 2, 4, 12, 13 and 14. In addition, 
Condition 20 was reworded to include detailed information in relation to the 
planting and maintenance of the replacement tree to ensure its survival.  
 
Following consideration of the report, the late representations document and 
matters raised at the meeting, the Committee expressed concerns regarding the 
maintenance and survival of the replacement tree and considered that the period 
of replacement should be extended from 5 years to 10 years. 
 

Page 5



 

 
– 4 – 

 

RESOLVED that planning permission be granted in respect of Application 
FUL/2022/3133 subject to conditions detailed in the report and the Late 
Representations document and with the additional amendment to Condition 
20 to reflect the replacement of tree within 10 years of planting.   
 

17. Application PL/2023/0001157/HHA - 35 Morningside, Coventry  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Strategic Lead for Planning outlining the 
above application for proposed tiled hipped roof over existing front dormer window 
and relocation of wood store from rear garden to side of house. The application 
was recommended for approval subject to conditions.  
 
RESOLVED that planning permission be granted in respect of Application 
PL/2023/0001157/HHA subject to conditions.  
 

18. Proposed Diversion of Public Footpath M249 (part) Parish of Allesley, and 
Public Footpath M240 (part) Parish of Allesley, City of Coventry  

 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Transportation and 
Highways which sought authority for the City Solicitor to make on Order for the 
proposed diversion of Public Footpath M249 (part) Parish of Allesley and Public 
Footpath M240 (part) Parish of Allesley, City of Coventry.  
 
In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, any matters which change the 
public rights of way network must be considered by the Planning Committee.  
 
The report outlined the investigations to divert parts of two public footpaths 
adjacent to the A45 at Pickford Bridge, Allesley. This included a discussion of 
consultations carried out in respect of the proposal and the legal test to be 
considered for a diversion order to be made. The proposal was put forward 
following an application submitted by Brookbanks, 6150 Knights Court. Solihull 
Parkway, Birmingham in conjunction with highway developments associated with 
the A45 at Pickford Bridge, Allesley.  
 
In accordance with Section 257 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as 
amended by Section 12 of the Growth and Infrastructure Act 2013, the Council, as 
the Local Planning Authority can make an Order diverting a footpath if it is satisfied 
that it is necessary to do so to enable development to be carried out in accordance 
with a planning permission granted.  
 
It was considered necessary to divert the public footpaths as illustrated in 
Appendix A and B of the report to allow for the development to proceed as detailed 
within planning reference: The development is a scheme for improvements to the 
A45 including new slip roads, a new roundabout and a new road over bridge and 
associated footways.  
 
Where there are no outstanding objections, it would be for the Council to 
determine whether to confirm the Order. In the event of objections to the Order 
being received and not resolved, the City Council would be responsible for the 
conduct of any hearing or public inquiry.  
 

Page 6



 

 
– 5 – 

 

It was noted that the Applicant has agreed to defray all expenses associated with 
the Order.  
 
RESOLVED that Planning Committee:  
 

1. Authorises the City Solicitor to make the necessary Diversion Order 
for all of the Public Footpaths defined in the report at land adjacent to 
the A45 at Pickford Bridge, Allesley City of Coventry pursuant to 
Section 257 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 on the 
grounds that the City Council is satisfied that it is necessary to do so 
to enable development to go ahead.  

 
2. Authorises that a Public Notice of the making of the Order be given 

and in the event of there being no objections within the period 
specified, the Order be confirmed in the exercise of the powers 
conferred on the Council by the said Acts.  
 

3. Endorses that if objections are received to the making of the Order 
that cannot be resolved, then the matter be forwarded to the Secretary 
of State for determination and Coventry City Council be responsible 
for the conduct of any hearing or public inquiry.  

 
19. Proposed Diversion of Public Footpath M316 (part) Parish of Keresley, City 
of Coventry  

 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Transportation and 
Highways which sought authority for the City Solicitor to make an Order for the 
permanent diversion of Public Footpath M316 (part) Parish of Keresley, City of 
Coventry as shown at Appendix A of the report.  
 
In accordance with the Constitution, any matters which change the public rights of 
way network must be considered by the Planning Committee.  
 
The report outlined the investigations to divert part of a public footpath off 
Tamworth Road, Keresley, City of Coventry. This included a discussion of 
consultations carried out in respect of the proposal and the legal tests to be 
considered for a diversion order to be made. The proposal was put forward 
following an application submitted by Taylor Wimpey North Midlands, 2 Trinity 
Court, Broadlands, Wolverhampton, in conjunction with residential developments 
adjacent to Tamworth Road.  
 
In accordance with Section 257 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as 
amended by Section 12 of the Growth and Infrastructure Act 2013, the Council, as 
the Local Planning Authority, can make an Order diverting a footpath if it is 
satisfied that it is necessary to do so to enable development to be carried out in 
accordance with a planning permission granted.  
 
It s considered that it is necessary to divert the public footpath as illustrated on the 
plan at Appendix A to allow for the development to proceed as detailed within  
planning reference: OUT/2014/2282 Outline, RM/2019/1030 Phase 1 and  
RM/2020/2399 Phase 2.  
 

Page 7



 

 
– 6 – 

 

Where there are no outstanding objections, it is for the Council to determine  
whether to confirm the Order. In the event of objections to the Order being  
received and not resolved, the City Council would be responsible for the 
conduct of any hearing or public inquiry. 
 
It was noted that the Applicant has agreed to defray all expenses associated with 
the Order.  
 
RESOLVED that Planning Committee:  
 

1. Authorises the City Solicitor to make the necessary Diversion Order 
for all of the Public Footpath defined in the report, at land adjacent to 
Tamworth Road, Keresley, City of Coventry pursuant to Section 257 of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 on the grounds that the City 
Council is satisfied that it is necessary to do so to enable 
development to go ahead.  

 
2. Authorises that a Public Notice of the making of the Order be given 

and in the event of there being no objections within the period 
specified, the Order be confirmed in the exercise of the powers 
conferred on the Council by the said Acts.  
 

3. Endorses that if objections are received to the making of the Order 
that cannot be resolved, then the matter be forwarded to the Secretary 
of State for determination and Coventry City Council be responsible 
for the conduct of any hearing or public inquiry.  

 
20. Outstanding Issues  

 
There were no outstanding issues.  
 

21. Any other items of public business which the Chair decides to take as 
matters of urgency because of the special circumstances involved  

 
There were no other items of public business. 
 
 
 
 

(Meeting closed at 5.45 pm)  

  

Page 8



Planning Committee Report 
Planning Ref:  OUT/2022/2259 
Site:  Land at Browns Lane 
Ward: Bablake 
Proposal: Outline application for Residential development of up to 

345 dwellings (Use Class C3a) and 2 hectares of housing 
with care/ residential care home provision (Use Class C2), 
together with associated infrastructure, open space, and 
landscape enhancements on land at Browns Lane in 
Coventry (with all matters reserved except access). 

Case Officer: Ayesha Saleem 
 
SUMMARY 
The application relates to a parcel of land that is contained within the housing allocation. 
H2:6, called Land at Browns Lane. The allocation is for a minimum of 475 dwellings. The 
allocation requires the retention of important trees and hedgerows and focuses primary 
access to Coundon Wedge Drive.  
 
The application has been submitted in outline, with all matters reserved except access. 
Therefore, the application concentrates on the principal of development, the quantum of 
development and the proposed accesses to the site.  
 
BACKGROUND 
The majority of the site was previously reserved for the expansion of JLR and has been 
since 1975.    The 2001 Local Plan also retained this land for the expansion of JLR.  It 
was allocated for Housing in the 2017 Coventry Local Plan.  In addition to the allocation 
of this land for housing, the 2017 Coventry Local Plan removed some land from the Green 
Belt (an area to the north-east and the east/south-east of the Jaguar land for housing and 
to the east of Lyons Park for employment). 
Policy H2:6 of the Coventry Local Plan 2017 designates the site for housing. 
 
 
KEY FACTS 
 
Reason for report to 
committee: 

Over five objections against the Officers recommendation 

Current use of site: Agricultural  
Proposed use of site: Residential 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Planning Committee are recommended to delegate the grant of planning permission to 
the Strategic Lead for Planning subject to conditions and the completion of a s106 Legal 
Agreement to secure the obligations summarised in this report. 
 
REASON FOR DECISION 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



 The proposal is consistent with an allocation in the development plan and is 
acceptable in principle. 

 The less than substantial harm to heritage assets will be clearly outweighed by the 
benefits of the proposal. 

 The proposal will not adversely impact upon highway safety, air quality, trees or 
ecology. 

 The proposal makes provision for necessary developer contributions. 
 The proposal accords with Policies DS1, DS3, DS4, H1, H2, H3, H4: H6, H9, GE1, 

GE3, GE4, DE1, HE2, JE7, HW1, AC1, AC2, AC3, AC4, AC5, EM1, EM2, EM3, 
EM4, EM5, EM6, EM7 and IM1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016, together with the 
aims of the NPPF. 

APPLICATION PROPOSAL 
The proposals is for a residential development of up to 345 new homes at a density of 
39.5 dwellings per hectare including the provision of 25% affordable housing and also 
includes plans for a 1.87-hectare site that will be reserved for the development of a care 
home. The illustrative layout and land use plan submitted shows the indicative layout for 
both the residential and care home provision, which will likely be delivered in two phases. 
 
The application seeks permission for: - 
 Demolition of all existing buildings 
 Construction of up to 345 dwellings. 
 Construction of care home facility 
 Formation of access to the residential component of the site will be via Browns Lane 

in the west, and Wall Hill Road / Hawkes Mill Lane to the north. 
 The care home development would be accessed through the existing RSPCA access 

off B4076 Coundon Wedge Drive. 
 Landscaping, drainage features, and areas of open space. 
 Associated ancillary infrastructure. 

As indicated on the submitted building heights plan, the dwellings will be mainly 2 storeys 
with some bungalows to the western corner of the site and some three storey units  
adjacent to the care home site.  The proposed care home development will be up to 3 
storeys.  
 
On the western boundary of the site, the proposed residential access will form the fourth 
arm of a new roundabout junction, to be located at the existing junction of Browns Lane / 
Burton Close. On the northern boundary of the site, the proposed residential access will 
form the fourth arm of a new roundabout junction, to be located at the existing junction of 
Wall Hill Road / Hawkes Mill Lane. These accesses will serve the residential component 
of the site. The care home development would be accessed through the existing RSPCA 
access off B4076 Coundon Wedge Drive. The existing public footpath  will be retained.  
 
The Illustrative layout Drawing No COV0449-005 Rev H and Land Use Plan Drawing No. 
COV0449-006 Rev D show the extent of required infrastructure for each phase, including 

Page 10



access arrangements, biodiversity and landscape enhancements, open space and areas 
for recreational activity and drainage infrastructure. 
 
The proposal is supported by an Environmental Statement, with chapters covering the 
following issues: air quality, ecology, heritage and archaeology, noise, population and 
health, transport, and water resources.  
 
The amendments to the scheme design have included revised access proposals to Wall 
Hill Road and Browns Lane following subsequent discussions with the Highway Authority. 
Amendments were submitted in relation buffers to locally listed buildings and non- 
designated heritage asset, the inclusion of a NEAP and MUGA. This resulted in a 
reduction of the number of dwellings on site to 345 from 350.  
 
The following amended plans and information have been submitted: 

 Tree retention plan Drawing No. COV0449-06 
 Land use plan Drawing No.  COV0449-006 Rev D 
 Illustrative layout Drawing No. COV0449-005 Rev H 
 Building heights plan Drawing No. COV0449-007 Rev B 
 Addendum to Transport Assessment 2 

 
SITE DESCRIPTION 

The application site falls entirely within the administrative boundary of Coventry City 
Council and occupies approximately 18 hectares. The site is bounded by B4076 Coundon 
Wedge Drive to the east, Wall Hill Road and Hawkes Mill Lane to the north and Browns 
Lane to the west.  
 
The site is currently used for agricultural purposes and is leased to tenant farmers. It is 
bounded by a series of dwellings at the northern, north-eastern, and south-western 
extents, and by commercial uses and the RSPCA centre to the south. An arrangement of 
trees and hedgerows bound the western and eastern extents of the site.  
 
The south-eastern extent of the site is situated within an Archaeological Constraint Area.  
There is a footpath that runs through the site from Wall Hill Road to Sayers Drive and this 
is indicated as adopted highway.  
 
The site adjoins the Brownshill Green Conservation Area and there are locally listed 
buildings either side of the site on the Browns Lane frontage.  
 
The site topography is undulating with significant level changes across the site. The high 
points are located to the western edge of the site. The levels fall to the east and rises 
again towards the existing livestock shed. The land slopes further down towards the north 
and east of the site. The lowest point is towards the north east corner of the site. 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 

Page 11



Application 
Number: 

Description of development: Decision 
and date: 

SCR/2019/2059 EIA Screening opinion for residential development 
of up to 475 dwellings 

28/01/2020 

SCO/2020/0934 Scoping Opinion for proposed residential 
development for up to 350 dwellings, 1.87 
hectares of extra care provision, together with 
associated open space, a Local Equipped Area of 
Play (LEAP), landscaping and highways 
infrastructure. 

17/07/2020 

 
 
POLICY 
National Policy Guidance 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) updated July 2021. The NPPF sets out the 
Government’s planning policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. 
 
It sets out the Government’s requirements for the planning system only to the extent that. 
is relevant, proportionate, and necessary to do so. The NPPF increases the focus on 
achieving high quality design and states that it is “fundamental to what the planning and 
development process should achieve”. 
 
The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) adds further context to the NPPF and 
it is intended that the two documents are read together. 
 
Local Policy Guidance 
The current local policy is provided within the Coventry Local Plan 2016, which was 
adopted by Coventry City Council on 6th December 2017.  Relevant policies relating to 
this application are: 
Policy DS1: Overall Development Needs 
Policy DS3: Sustainable Development Policy 
Policy DS4: (Part A) General Masterplan Principles 
Policy H1: Housing Land Requirements 
Policy H2: Housing Allocations 
Policy H3: Provision of New Housing 
Policy H4: Securing a Mix of Housing 
Policy H6: Affordable Housing 
Policy H9: Residential Density 
Policy GB1: Green Belt and Local Green Space 
Policy GE1 Green Infrastructure 
Policy GE3: Biodiversity, Geological, Landscape and Archaeological Conservation 
Policy GE4: Tree Protection 
Policy JE7: Accessibility to Employment Opportunities 
Policy DE1 Ensuring High Quality Design 
Policy HE2: Conservation and Heritage Assets 
Policy AC1: Accessible Transport Network 

Page 12



Policy AC2: Road Network 
Policy AC3: Demand Management 
Policy AC4: Walking and Cycling 
Policy AC5: Bus and Rapid Transit 
Policy EM2: Building Standards 
Policy EM4 Flood Risk Management 
Policy EM5 Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) 
Policy EM7 Air Quality 
Policy IM1: Developer Contributions for Infrastructure 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance/ Documents (SPG/ SPD): 
SPG Design Guidelines for New Residential Development 
SPD Energy 
SPD Coventry Connected 
SPD Trees and Development 
SPD Air Quality 
SPD Affordable Housing 
The Green Space Strategy 2019 – 2024 
 
STATUTORY CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 
No objections received from: 
Conservation (CCC) 
Urban Design (CCC) 
Natural England 
West Midlands Fire Services 
 
No objections subject to conditions/ contributions have been received from: 
Highways (CCC) 
Archaeology (CCC) 
Housing Policy (CCC) 
Public Health (CCC) 
Drainage (CCC) 
Ecology (CCC) 
Trees (CCC) 
Environmental Protection (CCC) 
Economic Development Service (CCC) 
Parks (CCC) 
Sustainability (CCC) 
Sports (CCC) 
Sport England 
Education 
NHS Trust 
NHS (ICB) 
Environment Agency 
Transport for West Midlands 

Page 13



 
PUBLIC RESPONSES 
Notification letters were sent out to neighbouring houses and twenty-six site notices were 
displayed on the 2nd September 2022 and a press notice was advertised on the 8th 
September 2022.   
 
73 letters of objection were received raising the following material planning 
considerations: 
 The need for housing due to the population figures 
 The loss of Green Belt and Agricultural land 
 The Coundon Wedge should not be built on. 
 Impact on traffic and concerns regarding highway safety and access 
 Better bus services are required.   
 Impact on Infrastructure, i.e. Schools, doctors, hospitals etc. 
 Impact on air quality 
 Impact on wildlife / ecology / biodiversity 
 Impact on flooding and drainage 
 Impact on archaeology 
 Impact and removal of trees and hedgerows 
 Impact upon privacy- new development overlooking existing dwellings. 
 Create an access to Lyons Drive 
 Overdevelopment 
 Noise/ disturbance from development and construction 
 Plans are inaccurate and do not show existing dwellings. 
 Detrimental impact upon Ancient Arden 
 Detrimental impact upon Conservation Area 
 Loss of green space 
 Loss of light  
 Building line not in keeping  
 No amenities in walking distance 
 Cumulative impact given the existing developments within the area. 
 Impact upon health and well of residents given loss of green space. 
 Insufficient buffers to existing dwellings 
 Too much development in the north of the city  
 Houses should be on brownfield sites. 

Within the letters received the following non-material planning considerations were raised, 
these cannot be given due consideration in the planning process: 
 Impact upon views  
 Devaluation of properties 

A paper petition against the proposal with 252 signatures has been received sponsored 
by Councillor Jandu and Councillor Birdi. An E petition against the proposal with 616 
signatures has been received sponsored by Councillor Jandu. The petitions cover the 
following issues: 

Page 14



 Extra traffic generated on inadequate infrastructure. 
 Inadequate traffic measures on Browns Lane  
 Increased congestion  
 Increased pollution & poorer air quality 
 Potential for flooding due to inadequate drainage. 
 New development will encroach existing properties. 
 Permanent loss of Green Belt 
 No provision of schools and GP surgeries and existing services are unable to cope 

with pressures. 

Amendments were submitted and neighbours were re-consulted on the application on the 
29th June 2023.  
 
43 letters of objection were received raising the following material planning 
considerations: 
 The need for housing due to the population figures 
 Local Plan needs to be reviewed 
 The loss of Green Belt and Agricultural land 
 The Coundon Wedge should not be built on  
 Impact on traffic and concerns regarding highway safety and access 
 Better bus services are required   
 Impact on Infrastructure, i.e. Schools, doctors, hospitals etc. 
 Impact on air quality 
 Impact on wildlife / ecology / biodiversity 
 Impact on flooding and drainage 
 Impact on archaeology 
 Impact and removal of trees and hedgerows 
 Impact upon privacy- new development overlooking existing dwellings 
 Create an access to Lyons Drive 
 Overdevelopment 
 Noise/ disturbance from development and construction 
 Detrimental impact upon Ancient Arden 
 Detrimental impact upon Conservation Area 
 Loss of green space 
 Loss of light  
 No amenities in walking distance 
 Cumulative impact given the existing developments within the area 
 Impact upon health and well of residents given loss of green space 
 Insufficient buffers to existing dwellings 
 Too much development in the north of the city  
 Houses should be on brownfield sites. 

Within the letters received the following non-material planning considerations were raised, 
these cannot be given due consideration in the planning process: 
 Impact upon views 

Page 15



Cllr Jandu has raised the following concerns: 
 Loss of Green Belt / Green space 
 Increased traffic congestion 
 Impact on air quality 
 Increased flood risk 
 Increased light and noise pollution 
 Lack of services nearby will result in reliance on car 

Cllr Birdi has raised the following concerns: 
 Adjoining road network not suitable for extra traffic 
 No connectivity between Lyons estate and new development 
 The land is GB and Coundon Wedge 
 Destruction of open fields, trees, hedgerows and ecology 

Any further comments received will be reported within late representations. 
 
ASSESSMENT 
 
Principle of Development: 
The National Planning Policy Framework, paragraph 11, states that “Plans and decisions 
should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development. For Decision Making, 
this means: - 
c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan 
without delay; or 
d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most 
important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless: i. 
the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or ii. Any 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 
when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.” Footnote 8 to 
paragraph 11 confirms that this includes situations where the local authority cannot 
demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites. 
 
The Coventry Local Plan was formally adopted on 6th December 2017. Since it was 
adopted, the Government introduced the Standard Method, a standardised way of 
calculating minimum housing need. As the Local Plan is now more than five years old the 
Standard Method is now the determining factor when considering local housing need. 
When using the Standard Method, the Council is not able to demonstrate a five-year 
housing land supply. As such, the tilted balance is engaged and therefore planning 
permission should be granted, unless “any adverse impacts of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits” when assessed against the policies 
of the NPPF taken as a whole. 
 
Principle of Residential: 

Page 16



Policy H1 of the Coventry Local Plan states future housing will be designed to create new 
and stable communities. 
 
Policies H2 of the Coventry Local Plan Housing Allocations, table 4.2 Site Allocations for 
Housing of the Coventry Local Plan sets out the sites which are allocated for housing 
development. The site is an allocated housing site under Policy H2:6 of the Coventry 
Local Plan 2017. 
 
The housing numbers contained with the allocation are considered to be a minimum. It 
is noted that the column within Policy H2 of the Coventry Local Plan states ‘total’ for the 
number of dwelling(s) proposed. In this specific instance, the “total” column is the volume 
of dwellings on each site that the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment 
(SHLAA) process has attributed to each allocation, some of which are made up of several 
parcels of land and/or future application areas. There is no inference, either implicit or 
explicit, in either the Plan or the SHLAA, that “total” should be read as “maximum”. 
However, the preceding Coventry Local Plan policy, Policy H1 Housing Land 
Requirements and the introduction to the Coventry Local Plan and the housing chapter, 
it is clear that the housing need for the city is substantial, far in excess of what can be 
provided for within the city boundary, and that we are meeting a minimum volume of 
dwellings through the allocation process, as per the table in Policy H2 of the Coventry 
Local Plan. It is therefore a reasonable interpretation that the total column in the allocation 
table in Policy H2 of the Coventry Local Plan to be that minimum requirement. 
 
Policy DS4 (Part A) – General Masterplan principles states where the site is identified as 
an allocation within the Local Plan it should plan positively to meet in full the requirements 
identified within the relevant policies associated with the allocation. Where the proposal 
represents a phase or phases of a wider scheme however, the quantum of development 
should reflect the relative size and characteristics of the phase, including its position 
within the wider site. 
 
This is an allocated housing site in the Coventry Local Plan 2017 and  the principle of 
residential development is acceptable. 
 
Principle of Care Home/ C2 Use: 
Policy H8 of the Coventry Local Plan Policy H8 states: 
‘1. Proposals for care homes, nursing homes and other specialist and supported forms of 
housing for the elderly and those requiring care will be encouraged in areas that are 
accessible by a choice of means of transport and that are situated in close proximity to 
key local services. 
2. Proposals should be of a high quality and design and be compatible with the character 
of the surrounding area.’ 
 

Page 17



The application site is located in a relatively accessible location with two bus services that 
serve the perimeter of the scheme and provides a connection to the City Centre. The site 
has the following doctor’s surgeries and convenience store in proximity to the site. 
 
Name of Practice: Address: Distance 

Allesley Village Surgery  Birmingham Road, CV5 
9BD 

Approx 1.9 miles 

Park Leys Practice  Bennetts Road South, 
CV6 2FL 

Approx 1.3 miles 

Springfield Medical 
Practice  

Bennetts Road South, 
CV6 2FL 

Approx 1.3 miles 

 
Convenience Retail:  Address: Distance 

Nisa Local   Keresley Green Road, 
CV6 2FG 

Approx 1.2 miles 

Co-operative Foods Norman Place Road, 
CV6 2BQ 

Approx 1.3 miles 

Browns Lane Garage 
(petrol station with 
convenience store) 

Bennetts Road South, 
Keresley CV6 2FL 

Approx 1.0 mile 

 
The site is located in an established residential area; however, it is noted that the main 
facilities such as doctor’s surgeries and convenience retail stores are at more than a mile 
away from the site.  The existing nearest bus terminal is located on Browns Lane adjacent 
to the North east to the application site. Referring to the Public Transport section below 
the bus service will be extended through the site to ensure the properties are all within 
the required distances to facilities.   The proposals are therefore considered to be 
acceptable. 
 
There is an identified need within Coventry for care homes, nursing homes and other 
specialist and supported forms of housing for the elderly and those requiring care. 
Although the  housing allocation under Policy H2:6 did not include a care home, the 
Coventry Local Plan supports the need for care homes as stated by Policy H8.  
 
Density 
Policy H9 of the Coventry Local Plan is concerned with housing density and states that 
residential developments, including conversions, must make the most effective and 
efficient use of land whilst ensuring compatibility with the quality, character, and amenity 
of the surrounding area. Developments on brownfield sites outside of the Ring Road 
should achieve a minimum of 35 dwellings per hectare and dwellings on greenfield sites 
should achieve a minimum of 30 dwellings per hectare. 
 
When considering density, it is also important to ensure it is considered alongside other 

Page 18



essential onsite provisions such as appropriate levels of amenity space, landscaping and 
any appropriate onsite infrastructure. 
 
As such, the Council’s policy is set in the context of net densities that seek to maintain: 
 at least 20% of gross site area to remain undeveloped on sites in excess of 2ha, and 
 at least 15% of gross site area to remain undeveloped on sites below 2ha. 

The application is in outline form with only access being discharged. The site area is 
approximately 18.5 hectares which will require 20% to remain undeveloped landscaped 
areas, this amounts to at least 3.7ha, of undeveloped land required. The current 
masterplan has a total of 7.1 hectares of public open space provision which is 
approximately 40% of the site area. 
 
The average proposed density for the residential parcels would be 39.5 dwellings per 
hectare, which exceeds the minimum stated in Policy.   
 
Open Space – Development Provision 

Policy GE1 of the Coventry Local Plan states new development proposals should make 
provision for green infrastructure to ensure that such development is integrated into the 
landscape and contributes to improvements in connectivity and public access, 
biodiversity, landscape conservation, design, archaeology and recreation. 

The proposed development will generate an average population of 828no. This is 
worked out using the calculations contained within the Open Space SPD, which 
requires the number of dwellings to be multiplied by the average household size of 2.4. 

Having calculated the number of people generated by development, the minimum 
requirement for each form of open space is to be calculated. 

The site therefore generates a requirement of at least: 
0.84/1000 x 828 = 0.69ha of Formal open space, and 
2.10/1000 x 828 = 1.73ha of Informal open space 

The formal open space requirement also includes the provision of a NEAP and a 
MUGA. The council uses the Fields in Trust (FiT), recommendation when it comes to 
play provision. This will be secured by a suitable worded condition. 

NEAP and MUGA: 

A NEAP is an area of open space specifically designated, laid out and equipped mainly 
for older children but potentially with play opportunities for younger children as well. It 
can provide play equipment and a hard surface area for ball games or wheeled activities 
such as roller skating or cycling. It may provide other facilities such as a ramp for 
skateboarding, a rebound wall, and a shelter for meeting and socialising.  

Page 19



FiT gives a standard size of a minimum activity zone of 1,000sqm comprising an area 
for play equipment and structures & a hard surfaced area of at least 465sqm. FiT 
recommend that any NEAP sized play facility has a 30m minimum separation between 
the activity zone and the boundary of the nearest property containing a dwelling.  

A MUGA (multi-use games areas) are small sports pitches that you would typically play 
a variety of different sports such as football, tennis, and basketball.  

FiT gives a standard size of a minimum pitch which would need to measure 40.0 by 20.0 
metres. FiT recommend that any MUGA sized play facility has a 30m minimum separation 
between the activity zone and the boundary of the nearest property containing a dwelling. 
 
The application is in outline form with only access being discharged, however, officers 
have to be assured that if the application was to advance to the Reserved Matters stage 
a NEAP and MUGA could be accommodated on site and these are indicated to be sited 
within the Green Infrastructure to the East of the site near the existing public footpath.  
 
The proposed land use plan indicates adequate open space to satisfy requirements, with 
no offsite contributions required for this. 
 
Heritage and Archaeology  

Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 1990 imposes a 
duty to have special regard to the desirability of preserving a listed building or its setting 
when considering whether to grant a planning permission which affects a listed building, 
its setting or Conservation Areas. Section 72 of the Act requires special attention to be 
paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of a 
Conservation Area. 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework, paragraph 197 states the LPA should take into 
account the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets 
and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation; 
b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable 
communities including their economic vitality; and 
c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character 
and distinctiveness. 
 
Paragraph 199 of the NPPF states when considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be 
given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the 
weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to 
substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance. 
 
Paragraph 202 states “Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial 
harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed 

Page 20



against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its 
optimum viable use”. 
 
Paragraph 203 states “The effect of an application on the significance of a non-designated 
heritage asset should be taken into account in determining the application. In weighing 
applications that directly or indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced 
judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the 
significance of the heritage asset”. 
 
Policy HE2 of the Coventry Local Plan ‘Conservation and Heritage Assets’ which is 
relevant to archaeological constraint areas (ACA) states that in order to help sustain the 
historic character, sense of place, environmental quality and local distinctiveness of 
Coventry, development proposals will be supported where they conserve and, where 
appropriate, enhance those aspects of the historic environment which are recognised as 
being of special historic, archaeological, architectural, artistic, landscape or townscape 
significance. Proposals likely to affect the significance of a heritage asset or its setting 
should demonstrate an understanding of such significance using currently available 
evidence. 
 
Heritage Assets: 
Since this application has been submitted Wall Hill Road and Hawkes Mill Lane located 
to the north of the site, are now within the Brownhill Green Conservation Area. The 
boundary of the Conservation Area is located along the northern edge of the proposal 
site.  
 
The proximity of the development to the boundary of the proposed Conservation Area 
and the permanent alteration from the development on the views from the proposed 
Conservation Area indicates that there will be a permanent alteration to the setting of the 
proposed asset.  The construction of the Scheme may also have a temporary change to 
the setting of the proposed Conservation Area, as a result of the construction works and 
the associated construction traffic. Overall, limited temporary adverse minor impacts on 
the heritage value of this designated asset are predicted. Consequently, the proposed 
works will result in less than substantial harm. In accordance with the NPPF, paragraphs 
199, 200 and 202, the public benefit of these works should be weighed against the less 
than substantial harm to the value of the designated heritage assets. It is considered that 
the public benefits of the proposal clearly outweigh the harm which would be caused. 
 
The only statutory listed building potentially affected by the proposal is Birch tree 
farmhouse, which is located to the north east of the site on the opposite side of Wall Hill 
Road. The northern fields of the application site comprise part of the setting of this 
building, although its main significance arises from its architecture. As the fields would be 
built on, the significance of this designated heritage asset would suffer a low level of harm. 
 
Whilst the level of harm would be low, it does not follow that the weight to be attributed to 
the harm should also be low, with the statutory duty to preserve Listed Buildings and their 

Page 21



settings. Indeed, paragraph 199 directs great weight to be given to the assets 
conservation.  
 
In this case it is considered that the public benefits of the proposal, in providing up to 345 
dwellings and care home and the accompanying economic and social benefits would 
comfortably outweigh the harm resulting from the detrimental effect on the setting of Birch 
Tree Farm. 
 
There are two locally listed building along the west side of site known as The Cottage, 1 
Freshfields Close, Old Farm, 3 Freshfields Close and The Cottage Browns Lane. The 
proposals have been amended for the Inclusion of buffer zones around the locally listed 
buildings of circa 10-12 metres.  
 
The site lies adjacent to the RSPCA building, which is a historic farmstead, which 
Conservation officers consider to be a non-designated heritage asset. The proposals 
have been amended to include planting a band of trees within the 11m gap between the 
two sites, in order to shield the development from the Brownshill Farm site.  
 
It is not considered that the harm arising to any of the locally listed structures or other 
non-designated heritage assets would be any more than minor and certainly not of a scale 
to warrant refusal of the application. 
 
Archaeology Provision: 
The site is located within an area of potential archaeological interest, not least the field 
systems of medieval date. Although the field systems to the north of Brownshill Green are 
of higher significance, the ones within the Browns Lane site still retain interest and their 
historic legibility is a key aspect of this and will need to be preserved in any final layout. 
The applicant has submitted a desk-based assessment and geophysical survey as part 
of the application Since the geophysical survey was undertaken, it has been established 
that magnetic gradiometer surveys are of lower efficacy than anticipated in the rural 
landscapes of Coventry. It is recommended that a resistivity survey is commissioned 
along with the required trenching. Officers have no objection subject to a condition in 
relation to trenching occurring prior to the submission of a reserved matters application, 
so that the results can be taken into account in the detailed layout.  
 
Highways Impacts 
Policy AC1 ‘Accessible Transport Network’ of the Coventry Local Plan states that 
development proposals which are expected to generate additional trips on the transport 
network should: 
a) Integrate with existing transport networks including roads, public transport, and walking 
and cycling routes to promote access by a choice of transport modes. 
b) Consider the transport and accessibility needs of everyone living, working, or visiting 
the city. 
c) Support the delivery of new and improved high-quality local transport networks which 
are closely integrated into the built form. 
d) Actively support the provision and integration of emerging and future intelligent mobility 

Page 22



infrastructure. 
 
Policy AC2 of the Coventry Local Plan states new development proposals which are 
predicted to have a negative impact on the capacity and/or safety of the highway network 
should mitigate and manage the traffic growth which they are predicted to generate to 
ensure that they do not cause unacceptable levels of traffic congestion, highway safety 
problems and poor air quality. Highway mitigation and management measures should 
focus firstly on demand management measures (Policy AC3) including the promotion of 
sustainable modes of travel, and secondly on the delivery of appropriate highway capacity 
interventions. Highway capacity interventions should be appropriate to the scale of 
development and expected impact and will be determined through the associated 
Transport Assessment. 
 
Site Vehicular Access Points: 
The two compact roundabouts now shown at the Browns Lane and Hawkes Mill Lane 
access points are significant improvement compared with the previous mini roundabouts 
option. The Designer’s Response points the way in terms of mitigation measures. The 
LHA are satisfied that the design is acceptable for the planning stage with any minor 
refinement capable of being progressed during detailed design stage. 
 
In the southeast corner of the site the existing RSPCA facility will be upgraded to serve 
the care home development. The proposed arrangements will maintain separation 
between the care home development and the RSPCA facility and will utilise an existing 
junction, where the principle of an access is already established. 
 
Mitigation Measures: 
Initially Highways officers raised concerns that the development has an impact on the 
A4114/B4076/B44106/Birmingham Road roundabout. In previous comments Highways 
officers made a request for “a fully costed mitigation scheme should be advanced by the 
applicant to bring this junction to an RFC of 0.85 or below”. Subsequently, in 
correspondence to the applicant, a contribution request for “£180,995.40s (the cost of 2 
new Toucan crossings – 1 on each carriageway of the Coundon Wedge Drive arm of the 
junction)” was made.  
 
With reference to information presented within the first Addendum to Transport 
Assessment (junction performance results and network flow diagrams), it has been 
demonstrated that: 
 The proposed development will result in an additional 26 two-way trips through the 

A4114/Birmingham Road/Coundon Wedge Drive/Holyhead Road/Allesley Old 
Road/B410 roundabout junction in the AM peak hour and 20 two-way trips in the PM 
peak hour. This equates to a 0.6% increase in vehicle movements through the junction 
in the 2026 AM peak hour and 0.4% increase in the PM peak hour. 

 The junction will operate within capacity in the AM peak hour in both the Do Minimum 
and Do Something scenarios, with a maximum RFC of 0.74 on Pickford Way. In the 
PM peak hour, the assessment demonstrated that the junction is forecast to operate 
at capacity in the Do Minimum scenario, with a maximum RFC of 0.88 and will 

Page 23



continue to operate at capacity, with no change to the RFC in the Do Something 
scenario. 

 There is forecast to be no discernible increase in the maximum queue length (a 
change from 7.2 PCU to 7.3 PCU) or delay to vehicle occupants (from 11.75 seconds 
to 11.82 seconds). 

 
As such, it is maintained that the Applicant does not consider that the additional traffic 
associated with the proposed scheme will materially impact the operation of this junction 
and considers that it is not appropriate to provide mitigation or a contribution towards 
works at this junction. Highway officers have now accepted this stance.  
 
Detailed junction capacity assessments have been undertaken for eight local junctions 
including the Long Lane / Wall Hill Road / Brownshill Green Road and the three proposed 
site access junctions, using recently undertaken observed turning counts, as well as 
supplementary CASM data. The assessment demonstrates that each of the junctions 
would operate within capacity. Overall, the scheme is considered to have a negligible 
impact on the operation of the highway network. The impact of the development proposals 
has been assessed and the impacts are not considered to be severe. 
 
Walking and Cycling Connections: 
Highway officers requested that the proposed strategic pedestrian connection from the 
development, across the land adjacent to Coundon Wedge Drive is made into a cycle 
track to complement the concept of a Toucan crossing. This has been accepted by the 
Applicant and presented on the revised parameters plan.  
 
Highways officers have recommended that the existing public footpath within the site is 
upgraded to bridleway which the applicant considers to be a reserved matter. If this is 
viable solution in terms of securing it, then the officers would support this approach. 
 
Highways officers requested that a pedestrian link between the development site and 
Browns Lane, in the vicinity of Freshfield Close should be provided. This is now presented 
on the revised parameters plan and is acceptable. 
 
A pedestrian and cyclist connection between the application site and Lyons Drive has 
been indicated on the parameters plan and is agreed.  
 
Public Transport: 
In comments dated 12th October 2022, Highway officers at the time indicated that the 
existing no. 7 bus service, operated by National Express, could be extended to serve the 
proposed development and the Keresley SUE. It is expected that the extension of this 
service would require further investment in new vehicles to ensure that the frequency can 
be maintained or improved, with the associated costs shared between the consented 
developments at Keresley and the proposed development. Reference is also made to the 
recent introduction of on-demand transport services, which are now available across 
Coventry, including the site. Highway officers at that time indicated that a financial 
contribution may be required.  

Page 24



 
It is the Applicants view that the proposed design of the site, which will enable bus 
services to operate through the site is adequate and proportionate. The arrangements will 
effectively operate as a turn-back facility for the no. 7 bus service, with negligible delay 
or increased journey time as a result. Given that the majority of services operated along 
the no. 7 route are commercially viable services, the operator will be best placed to 
determine whether there is sufficient demand to warrant re-routing the service through 
the site. It is considered that if the no.7 service is to be extended through the Keresley 
SUE development, this should be funded through the S106 contributions already agreed 
with the developer. 
 
Highway officers have agreed this approach and have confirmed no financial contribution 
is required for the public transport element.  
 
Sustainable Transport Measures 
Various sustainable transport measures have also been requested in order to encourage 
modal shift from the private car to walking, cycling and public transport. These include 
contributions towards the cycle superhighway which will run along Coundon Wedge Drive; 
mobility credits for future householder to utilise; a car club contribution, the provision of a 
cycle docking station for the West Midlands cycle hire scheme; and upgrading of a public 
footpath to Sayer Drive. The amounts are listed in the developer contribution section of 
the report. 
 
Ecology, Biodiversity and Trees 
Policy GE3 of the Coventry Local Plan states that Sites of Special Scientific Interest 
(SSSIs), Local Nature Reserves (LNRs), Ancient Woodlands, Local Wildlife and 
Geological Sites will be protected and enhanced.  
 
Policy GE3 establishes that developments should provide a net gain and where this is 
not possible provide some form of offsetting. 
 
The Environmental Statement (Mott MacDonald, ref 408218-MMD-01-XX-ENV-EIA-
0001, July 2022) includes a summary and discussion of the ecology surveys of the site 
(Middlemarch Environmental and Mott MacDonald). The ecological surveys are 
comprehensive and provide a sufficient understanding of the site. Overall, the ecological 
information suggests that the development will have a minor impact but will lead to an 
overall loss in biodiversity which would be mitigated by off-site projects. 
 
The contribution required for any offsite mitigation has been calculated using the 
Warwickshire Biodiversity Impact Assessment metric which provides the required 
financial contribution.  Officers have now adopted the DEFRA metric V4 which provides 
the number of biodiversity units required rather than a financial contribution. More recently 
DEFRA has released the cost of biodiversity credits for offsite mitigation, there is a range 
of costs depending on habitat eg £42k/credit for grassland and £125k/credit for ponds. 

Page 25



 
Ecology has agreed that the Browns Lane residential development will not be required to 
make any financial contribution for mitigation. Instead, a nearby area of land will be 
provided for enhancement and long-term management for wildlife and the local 
community. An appropriate area of land has been agreed which is currently relatively poor 
grassland with limited informal access. The additional biodiversity required to offset the 
loss at the development site can be provided by enhancing the grassland and creating 
new features such as wetland and trees. The creation and ongoing management costs 
can be provided from a variety of sources, eg River Sherbourne Project is creating a 
series of wetland features. Public access will be integrated into the enhancements. 
 
There is no objection to the proposed development on ecology grounds subject to 
conditions ensuring that wildlife on the site is safeguarded. 
 
Trees: 
Policy GE4 of the Coventry Local Plan states that trees make a valuable contribution to 
the city’s green landscape. New developments should seek to retain existing trees and 
other landscape features, incorporating them into a high-quality design and landscape 
proposals where possible. Should loss be unavoidable, compensatory provision of new 
trees should be proposed as part of a well-designed landscape scheme. 
 
The application has been supported by an Arboricultural Report (Rev A)- dated 30th 
September 2019 and a Tree retention plan Drawing No COV0449-06.  
 
An Arboricultural Report has been undertaken to accompany the planning application. 
The report confirms that there were 49 individual trees, 4 tree groups, 11 hedgerows and 
1 woodland surveyed in relation to this site. The following tree retention categories were 
assigned: 
 Category A i.e. trees of high quality, 5 individual trees; 
 Category B i.e. trees of moderate quality, 23 individual trees, 2 tree groups; 
 Category C i.e. trees of low quality, 20 individual trees and 2 tree groups, 11 

hedgerows and 1 woodland; and, 
 Category U i.e. trees to be removed for arboricultural reasons, 1 individual tree. 

The Arboricultural Report also confirms that there is one tree within the redline boundary 
of the site covered by a Tree Preservation Order. There are also a further seven trees 
protected by a Tree Preservation Order which are located in the garden of a private 
property bordering the application site.  
 
Category A trees on site are all to be retained. One Category B (Identified as No.3) is to 
be removed. 3 Category C trees (Identified as No.1, 2 and 46) are to be removed and 
Category C hedgerows are also to be removed. The most noticeable hedgerows to be 
removed are along Hawkes Mill Lane/ Wall Hill Road to facilitate the proposed roundabout 
and a section on Coundon Wedge Drive to facilitate the care home development.  

Page 26



 
There are a number of important trees and hedgerows at the site, some which are 
veteran. Based on the current illustrative layout, the development is acceptable from an 
Arboricultural perspective. There are no objections subject to a condition in relation to a 
site-specific tree survey, Arboricultural impact and method statement, and new tree 
planting scheme.  
 
Drainage 
Policy EM4 of the Coventry Local Plan states all major development must be assessed 
in respect of the level of floor risk from all sources. 
 
Policy EM5 of the Coventry Local Plan states all development must apply SuDS and 
should ensure that surface water runoff is managed as close to its source as possible. 
 
The application was supported by a Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy 
contained in Volume II of the ES and a section within the Planning Statement.  
 
Surface water drainage for the majority of the site will outfall into the Brook North 
watercourse and the area to the west of the site will outfall into the existing surface 
water sewer in Browns Lane. Where existing ponds are located on site, if these are 
being retained, the future drainage design will allow for water to still flow towards these 
areas. Attenuation storage will be split between two outfall locations, the Brook Drain 
watercourse, and the surface water sewer in Browns Lane. The proposed majority of 
foul water will connect into the public foul sewers in Wall Hill Road. The western area of 
the site which falls towards Browns Lane will connect into the public foul sewer located 
within that road. 
 
The principle of the drainage design (which would have to achieve a Greenfield run off 
rate) is agreed and no objections are raised with regards to the proposed development 
subject to a detailed drainage scheme being submitted and approved by the city 
council.  
 
Landscape and Visual Amenity 
 
Landscape: 
Chapter 15 of the NPPF is concerned with conserving and enhancing the natural 
environment (Paragraphs No.174 – No.178). 
 
The site also does not represent a ‘valued’ landscape in the context of paragraph No.174 
of the NPPF. In terms of the recognised hierarchy of internationally to locally designated 
sites (NPPF para. No.175) and the greater weight to be applied to conserving and 
enhancing the top tier of protected landscapes (NPPF para. No.176), the site falls outside 
such classifications. It is not subject to any designations relating to landscape value or 
quality and it has been allocated for housing within the local development plan. 
 

Page 27



The application has been considered in relation to landscape and visual impacts from the 
actual application site, notwithstanding the allocation.  
 
A Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment has been prepared and submitted with the 
planning application. It provides an assessment of the site relative to landscape and visual 
receptors and has been used to inform and identify the significant constraints to inform 
the indicative design for the proposed development. 
 
The application site is located within the Ancient Arden. The site and its immediate context 
display many features of this landscape character type, with a varied undulating 
topography evident, along with winding lanes, tall roadside hedgerows, a distinctly 
irregular field pattern of small to medium sized fields and an abundance of hedgerows 
and trees. The application site is bounded by residential dwellings north, west and south 
to the application site.  
 
The site’s character can be divided into two elements which generally correspond to the 
western and eastern parts of the site. The western part of the site is accessed off Brown’s 
Lane and is the higher part of the site. It consists of three arable fields divided by a series 
of hedgerows which meet at a field pond and small section of woodland at the highest 
point of the site. The eastern and northern part of the site consists of eight fields divided 
by a series of hedgerows with large mature hedgerow trees. The hedgerows become 
more space to the east apart from the mature hedgerow boundary along the eastern edge 
of the site. 
 
The site topography is undulating with significant level changes across the site. The high 
points are located to the western edge of the site. The levels fall to the east and rises 
again towards the existing livestock shed. The land slopes further down towards the north 
and east of the site. The lowest point is towards the north east corner of the site. 
 
The application is in outline form with all matters reserved except access. However 
indicative plans have been submitted, namely: 
 Illustrative layout Drawing No. COV0449-005 Rev H 
 Building heights plan Drawing No.  COV0449-007 Rev B 

These plans together demonstrate how the proposed quantum of development could fit 
on the site. Together with all the allocation requirements. 
 
During the construction phase there would be permanent minor adverse effects on the 
landscape features within the site. However, they would be temporary minor adverse. 
effects on the landscape as only a small proportion of the wider landscape character 
areas are affected and no fundamental, defining characteristics would be lost. Visually, 
the users of the public footpaths crossing the site would be the most impacted upon by 
the construction works, experiencing temporary substantial adverse effects. 
 

Page 28



Once the houses are built there would be minor adverse effects on the landscape. The 
retention and management of existing trees and hedgerows as well as the proposed 
planting would have minor beneficial effects on landscape features. The proposals are 
considered to fit well with the surrounding settlement edges.  
 
The visual impact of the proposed development from Browns Lane and Wall Hill Road 
with the construction of a new accesses and residential dwellings clearly visible above 
the existing hedgerow. In the long term with mitigation the impact is likely to be moderate 
adverse. 
 
The effects on views from Coundon Wedge Drive would be negligible and views from 
other public footpaths would be minor adverse or negligible given a landscape buffer will 
be provided along the Public Right of Way.  
 
The matters of layout, scale, appearance, and landscaping are reserved matters and 
therefore these details will be submitted at a later date and therefore do not form part of 
the assessment of this current application. 
 
When taken together it is considered that the proposal will lead to a moderate adverse 
impact upon the landscape. 
 
Air Quality 
Policy H1 of the Coventry Local Plan states future housing will be designed to create 
new and stable communities. 
 
Policy H3 of the Coventry Local Plan states that new development must provide a high-
quality residential environment which assists in delivering urban regeneration or 
creating sustainable communities and which overall enhances the built environment. A 
suitable residential environment includes safe and appropriate access, adequate 
amenity space and parking provision and be safe from pollution. 
 
Policy EM7 of the Coventry Local Plan states major development proposals will require 
the submission of an air quality assessment, as they may lead to a significant 
deterioration in local air quality resulting in unacceptable effects on human health, local 
amenity, or the natural environment. 
 
The Air Quality SPD simplifies the consideration of air quality impacts associated with 
development schemes and focus on incorporation of mitigation at the design stage, 
countering the cumulative impacts of aggregated developments, providing clarity to 
developers, and defining ‘sustainability’ in air quality terms. 
The Site is located within the Coventry citywide Air Quality Management Area which was 
designated for the potential exceedance of the annual mean nitrogen dioxide (NO2) air 
quality objective. 
 

Page 29



An Air Quality Assessment has been submitted within the Environmental Statement. 
There are no significant adverse air quality effects anticipated from either the construction 
or operational phases of the Scheme. The assessment has deemed the Site suitable for 
residential purposes and the introduction of new receptors. Table 6.18 and Table 6.19 
summarise the predicted impacts and residual effects on the environment during the 
construction and operation phases. It is therefore considered that development-specific 
mitigation will not be required to reduce or offset road traffic emissions. 
 
In line with the Air Quality SPD, key to reducing impacts is to ensure that road emissions 
related to the proposed development are fully minimized. With regard to the guidance set 
out in the SPD, measures relevant to this development are as below: 
 Electric vehicle charging: 
 Residential - 1 electric vehicle charging point per dwelling 
 Gas boilers shall be ultra-low NOx emissions. 

A Construction Environmental Management Plan shall be submitted demonstrating how 
noise / vibration and dust emissions will be minimised during construction and site 
clearance. This will be controlled by condition.  
 
Noise 
Policy H1 of the Coventry Local Plan states future housing will be designed to create 
new and stable communities. 
 
Policy H3 of the Coventry Local Plan states that new development must provide a high-
quality residential environment which assists in delivering urban regeneration or creating 
sustainable communities and which overall enhances the built environment. A suitable 
residential environment includes safe and appropriate access, adequate amenity space 
and parking provision and be safe from pollution. 
 
An assessment has been made on the suitability of the Browns Lane site for residential 
and care home use. The dominant noise sources impacting the site are from road traffic 
noise, some industrial noise and the RSPCA centre. 
 
A Noise Risk Assessment revealed the site to have a negligible to low noise risk except 
for the northern boundary which has the potential for low to medium noise risk. Further 
assessment in the form of an Acoustic Design Statement is needed during the detailed 
design stage in which mitigation will be required to reduce the noise risk. Only dwellings 
which require sound insulating glazing and possibly the Care Village will require 
mechanical ventilation. 
 
Construction noise and vibration and noise from operational plant within the proposed site 
are not anticipated to give rise to significant adverse effects.  
 

Page 30



Road Traffic noise changes have been assessed for the scheme, and cumulatively with 
other schemes in the area. No significant adverse effects are predicted. 
 
Overall, the site would be suitable for residential use subject to a noise assessment being 
submitted for each phase of development.  
 
Contaminated Land 
Policy EM6 of the Coventry Local Plan seeks to ensure that redevelopment of previously. 
developed land does not have a negative impact on water quality, either directly through 
pollution of surface or ground water or indirectly through the treatment of wastewater by 
whatever means. 
 
The application is supported by a Geo Environmental Desk Study dated 28th July 2022.  
 
Based on the reported history of the site and surrounding area, a low to moderate risk is 
identified. The main potential sources of contamination are considered to be made 
ground, infilled ground and reworked ground containing demolition, material; hydrocarbon 
contamination from a former garage to the north and automotive factories to the south; 
and leaks and spills of hydrocarbons associated with farming activities including the use 
of fuel tanks and drums. 
 
Given the findings of this Desk Study, it is recommended that a Phase II Intrusive 
Investigation is undertaken, to determine the extent of contamination and to enable 
completion of a ground gas risk assessment. This can be controlled by a suitably worded 
condition. 
 
Infrastructure Requirements 
Comments and objections have been submitted raise concerns regarding the impact on 
services such as schools and doctors, the highways network, drainage and flooding and 
other infrastructure pressures. 
 
Paragraph 55 of the NPPF states local planning authorities should consider whether 
otherwise unacceptable development could be made acceptable through the use of 
conditions or planning obligations. 
 
This includes setting out the levels and types of affordable housing provision required, 
along with other infrastructure (such as that needed for education, health, transport, flood 
and water management, and green and blue infrastructure). Where planning conditions 
are considered the acceptable way to mitigate against any harm that may arise, they have 
been noted under the relevant sections, with the specific condition given. 
 
However, there are other areas which cannot be mitigated against solely by the imposition 
of conditions. These are discussed in more detail below. 
 

Page 31



Developer Contributions:  
Planning obligations under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended), commonly known as s106 agreements, are a mechanism which make a 
development proposal acceptable in planning terms, that would not otherwise be 
acceptable. They are focused on site specific mitigation of the impact of development. 
 
Policy IM1 ‘Developer Contributions for Infrastructure’ of the Coventry Local Plan states 
that development will be expected to provide or contribute towards provision of: a) 
Measures to directly mitigate its impact and make it acceptable in planning terms; and 
b) Physical, social and green infrastructure to support the needs associated with the 
development. 
The development would trigger the need for the following contributions to be secured 
under a Section 106 Legal Agreement if the application was found to be acceptable. 
 
Affordable Housing: 
Policy H6 of the Local Plan requires the provision of 25% affordable housing across the 
whole site, including the care home element of the proposals. 
 
The development of 345 units will require the provision of 86 dwellings for affordable 
housing, to be secured through the s106 Agreement. The affordable housing should be 
split 15% social/affordable rent and 10% intermediate housing. The national planning 
guidance also requires that 25% of affordable housing (so 6.25% of the overall number 
of units on this site) should be First Homes.  
 
The First Homes or 10% affordable home ownership will not apply to the housing with 
care element. The housing with care is more likely to be social/affordable rent. 
 
NHS Trust: 
The contribution request would be £568,265.00 which will go towards the gap in the 
funding created by each potential patient from this development. 
 
Officers are awaiting an updated response following the amendments to reduce the 
number of dwellings from 350 to 345.  Officers have also requested further information to 
demonstrate that this contribution is necessary in light of recent case law.  An update on 
this request will be provided as part of the late representations document. 
 
NHS (ICB):  
The contribution request would be for £530,783 which would be used on local 
improvement works to deliver additional capacity in local primary care facilities to support 
the population from this development. 
 
In the locality shows that there are several practices providing primary care medical 
services to the area. The practices have been identified where they are within a 3km 
radius of the location as shown below: 
 

Page 32



 

Name of Practice Address 
Allesley Park Medical Centre Whitaker Road, Coventry CV5 9JE 
Allesley Village Surgery Birmingham Road, Allesley CV5 9BD 
Engleton House Surgery Villa Road, Coventry CV6 3HZ 
Holbrooks Health Team Wheelwright Lane, Coventry CV6 4HN 
Jubilee Health Centre (Coventry 
GP) 

Jubilee Crescent, Coventry CV6 3FA 

Moseley Avenue Surgery Moseley Avenue, Coundon CV6 1HS 
Park Leys Practice Bennetts Road South, Keresley CV6 2FL 
Springfield Medical Practice Bennetts Road South, Keresley CV6 2FL 
The Gables Medicentre Holbrook Lane, Coventry CV6 4DD 

 
Ecology: 
This residential development will not be required to make any financial contribution for 
mitigation. Instead, a nearby area of land will be provided for enhancement and long-term 
management for wildlife and the local community. The additional biodiversity required to 
offset the loss at the development site can be provided by enhancing the grassland and 
creating new features such as wetland and trees. 
 
Education:  
 
The Education contribution below breaks down the education contribution in terms of total 
houses and on a per 2+bed dwelling basis. A total contribution of £3,040,257 is required.  

 

 

 

 

 

Highways:  

The Highway and Public Right of Way contributions are as set out below: 

Phase of 
Education 

Total 
Contribution 

- based 
upon 302 

2+plus bed 
dwellings 

Cost Per 
2+ bed 
dwelling 

 
 

Proposed Location of Contribution 

Primary 
Education £1,108,954 £3,672.03 

Towards improving education facilities (which may include the purchase, 
improvement and expansion of land and buildings) at the proposed 

Primary School as part of the Keresley SUE or towards John Shelton 
Primary School. 

Secondary 
Education £1,310,540 £4,339.54 

Towards improving education facilities (which may include the purchase, 
improvement and expansion of land and buildings) at Barr’s Hill School, 

President Kennedy, Coundon Court, or Cardinal Newman Schools. 

Post 16 
Education £292,068 £967.11 

Towards improving education facilities (which may include the purchase, 
improvement and expansion of land and buildings) at Barr’s Hill School, 

President Kennedy, Coundon Court, or Cardinal Newman Schools. 
Primary 

SEN 
Education 

£131,478 £435.36 
Towards improving education facilities (which may include the purchase, 
improvement and expansion of land and buildings) at Woodfield Special 

School. 
Secondary/ 

Post 16 
SEN 

Education 
£197,217 £653.04 

Towards improving education facilities (which may include the purchase, 
improvement and expansion of land and buildings) at Woodfield Special 

School. 

Total £3,040,257 

£10,067 
per 2+ 

bed 
dwelling 

 

    

Page 33



 Toucan Crossing on Coundon Wedge Drive £90,498 
 Cycle Superhighway contribution £313,860 
 The upgrade of the footpath to Sayer Drive amounting to £261,291.08 for a route going 

on the current walked line, plus £10,000 for the cost of the diversion Order 
 2 x WMCH docking stations £98,100 
 Mobility credits £306,250 
 Car Club contribution £52,500 
 Travel Plan Monitoring Fee £6,800 

Further clarification is being sought in respect of the request for the contributions 
towards the public footpath.  Whilst an upgrade to the path is considered acceptable in 
principle, officers are seeking to clarify whether or not these works are CIL compliant 
and necessary to mitigate the impact of development/make the development 
acceptable.  There are also concerns about the requirement for lighting to the footpath 
and the impact this could have on ecology and the potential works that may be required 
to remove hedgerow and the landscape buffer to make way for the upgraded footpath.  
An update will be provided in respect of this request as part of the late representations 
document.    

Sporting Provision-  

The proposal contains no indoor sporting provision nor any formal playing pitches. 

The population of the proposed development is estimated to be 828no based on an 
average household occupancy rate of 2.4. This additional population will generate 
additional demand for sports facilities. If this demand is not adequately met then it may 
place additional pressure on existing sports facilities, thereby creating or exacerbating 
deficiencies in facility provision. In accordance with the NPPF, Sport England seeks to 
ensure that the development meets any new community sports facility needs arising as 
a result of the development. 

The City Council has adopted Sport England’s Sports Facilities Calculator (SFC) which 
seeks to ensure that the development meets any new community sports facility needs 
arising as a result of the development. 

The Sport England’s Sports Facilities Calculator (SFC) indicates that a population of 
828 in this local authority area will generate a demand for: 

 Pools: 9.07 sqm of pool space costing £177,636 
 Halls: 0.25 courts costing £170,985  
 Artificial Grass Pitches: 0.03 pitches costing £31,907 
 Playing Pitches: 0.57 grass pitches costing £57,602  
 Pitch maintenance costing £13,264 per annum (based on a 10-year maintenance 

period £132,640 in total)  
 Ancillary Facilities: contribution towards a two-team changing facility costing £156,567 

Page 34



Sport England have requested an off-site contribution of £727,337 towards indoor 
sports facilities and outdoor playing pitches.  

Furthermore, the Sport (CCC) team have identified the following requirements and 
locations for the contributions: 

 It is recommended the contribution towards pools and halls are allocated to meet the 
demand generated and is invested into a potential future public leisure facility in the 
north west of the city or improvements in line with the Indoor Sports and Aquatics 
Facilities Strategy Action Plan. This is in line with the contributions being sort at the 
Eastern Green and Kersley urban extensions.  

 The contribution toward the artificial grass pitches will be allocated in line with the 
latest playing pitch strategy which anticipated to be at wither the Woodlands or 
Cardinal Newman to meet the demand of the current 3G pitch shortfall. 

 The contribution towards the playing pitches, maintenance, and ancillary facilities 
(such as changing rooms) would be invested into a potential future public leisure site 
in the north west of the city, or one of the football hubs created on one of the council 
parks facilities or at Woodlands to improve the quality of pitches, in line with the latest 
playing pitch strategy. 

Other Matters: 

With regards to the neighbour concerns in relation to impact upon amenity loss of light, 
privacy to be caused by the proposal. These details cannot be addressed under this 
application as this is an outline application in which access is only being considered. 
These details will be considered in the subsequent reserve matters applications. In 
relation to the neighbour’s comments relating to additional noise and light pollution this 
is inevitable when developing a Greenfield site, however the level of impact is not 
unusual or so significant as to warrant refusal of the application. 

Equality implications: 
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 created the public sector equality duty. Section 149 
states: -  
 
(1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need 
to:  
a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act;  
b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it;  
c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it.  
 
Officers have taken this into account and given due regard to this statutory duty, and the 
matters specified in Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 in the determination of this 
application.  

Page 35



 
There are no known equality implications arising directly from this development. 
 
CONCLUSION 
The site is allocated for housing under Policy H2:6 of the Local Plan.  The Council is not 
in a position to demonstrate a 5-year housing land supply when using the Government’s 
Standard Method. It is not considered that there are any adverse impacts of granting 
planning permission that would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of 
the development when assessed against the policies of the NPPF taken as a whole. 
Therefore, in line with the NPPF, Planning Permission should be granted. 
 
The application is in outline form, with all matters relating to appearance, landscaping, 
layout, and scale reserved for a later date, with only access being discharged. 
 
The less than substantial harm to heritage assets is clearly outweighed by the benefits of 
the proposal. 
 
The proposed development is considered to be acceptable in principle and will not result 
in any significant impact upon neighbour amenity, highway safety, ecology, or 
infrastructure, subject to relevant conditions and contributions. The reason for Coventry 
City Council granting planning permission is because the development is in accordance 
with: Policies DS1, DS3, DS4c, H1, H2, H3, H4, H6, H9, HE2, GE1, GE2, GE3, GE4, 
JE7, DE1, AC1, AC2, AC3, AC4, AC5, EM4, EM5, EM7 and IM1 of the Coventry Local 
Plan 2016, together with the aims of the NPPF. 
 

CONDITIONS / REASONS 

1. 

Approval of the details of the appearance, layout, scale, access in relation to 
the means of access within the site to the buildings and the pedestrian/cycle 
accesses into the site, and landscaping (hereinafter called ‘the reserved 
matters’) shall be obtained from the local planning authority in writing before 
any development is commenced and the development shall be carried out in 
full accordance with those reserved matters as approved. 

Reason 
To conform with Article 5(1) of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Development Procedure) Order 2015  
  

2. 
Application for approval of the reserved matters listed at condition 1 shall be 
made to the Local Planning Authority before the expiration of 3 years from 
the date of this permission. 

Page 36



Reason 
To conform with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended)  
  

3. 
The development hereby permitted shall begin within 3 years of the date of 
this permission or within 2 years of the final approval of the reserved 
matters, whichever is the later. 

Reason 
To conform with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) 
  

4. 

The reserved matters shall be in accordance with the Land Use Plan DWG 
COV0449-006 Rev D and shall include the following specific requirements 
and/or be supported by the following documents in so far as relevant to that 
matter: 

Retention of trees, tree groups and hedgerows as indicated for retention on 
Tree Retention Plan DWG COV0449-06; 
Provision of NEAP; 
Provision of MUGA; 
Health Impact Assessment; 
Sustainable Building Statement; 
Inclusion of car club spaces at locations to be agreed within the development; 
Bus stops with shelters and real-time information; 
Preparations for cycle hire docking station(s) including hard-standing and 
power supply; 
Provision of communal EV charging points and 
Provision of car club parking and information boards/displays. 

Reason 

In the interests of achieving sustainable development, having particular 
regard to the potential impact of the development in accordance with Policy 
DS3 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016.  
  

5. 

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the following approved plans:  
Site Location Plan DWG COV0449-001 Rev A 
Land Use Plan DWG COV0449-006 Rev D 
Tree Retention Plan DWG COV0449-06 
Building Heights Plan DWG COV0449-007 Rev B 
Proposed Wall Hill Road Site Access DWG 408218-MMD-HW-XXDR-C-0001 
Rev P5 
Proposed Browns Lane Site Access DWG 408218-MMD-HW-XX-DR-C-0011 
Rev P5 
Coundon Wedge Access and Visibility Plan DWG 408218-MMD-HW-DR-
0021 Rev P1 

Page 37



Topographical Survey DWG 53527-1- 10 
Planning Statement Rev B- August 2022 
Design and Access Statement Rev B- July 2022 
Environmental Impact Assessment- July 2022 
Volume 1 – Environmental Statement – Main Report 
Volume 2 – Environmental Statement – Technical Appendices 
Volume 3 – Environmental Statement – Non-Technical Summary 
Statement of Community Involvement Rev B- July 2022 
Arboricultural Report Rev A- Dated 30th September 2019  
Geo-environmental Desk Study Rev B- Dated 28th July 2022 
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment Rev B- July 2022 
Historic Environment Desk Based Assessment Rev D- July 2022 
Addendum to Transport Assessment- Dated 18th January 2023 
Addendum to Transport Assessment 2- Dated 26th June 2023  

Reason For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning 
  

6. 

Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a site wide 
phasing programme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority, which shall include:• Details of the precise location 
and extent of individual development phases;• The extent of development 
within each phase and a description of the intended timing of the development 
and completion of each phase;• Permanent and temporary access 
arrangement to serve each phase of the development;• Any interim surface 
or boundary details relating to each phase of the development;• Timings of 
provision of Green Infrastructure and footpath / cycle routes within each 
phase. The development shall only be carried out in full accordance with the 
approved site wide phasing programme. 

Reason 

To ensure that in the event of the development being carried out on a 
phased basis, satisfactory access and interim environmental treatment is 
provided to address the impact in the interests of public safety and amenity 
in accordance with Policies DS4, DE1, AC1 and AC2 of the Coventry Local 
Plan 2016. 
  

7. 
No habitable buildings, structures, roadways, car parks, fencing, lighting, or 
anything else, shall be erected within 3m of the gas pipeline, which crosses 
the site. 

Reason 
In the interests of health and safety of future occupiers in accordance with 
Policy H3 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
  

8. Prior to the commencement of the relevant phase of development 
hereby  permitted, full details of the proposed NEAP and MUGA shall be 

Page 38



submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, which 
shall include / provide for the following: 

MUGA: 
• Is minimum of 40m x 20m in size. 
• Has a sufficient buffer zone to allow a minimum distance of 30 metres 
between the edge of the activity zone and the boundary of the nearest 
residential property 
• The court can be a porous macadam (tarmac) surface with an acrylic non-
slip paint applied in accordance with SAPCA Code of Practice. 
• Requires markings for Football, and Basketball, using acrylic line markings, 
50mm wide and to include a goal at each end for football and a basketball 
hoop 
 
NEAP: 
• It caters for children from 8 to 14 years of age. 
• Has a minimum activity zone area of 1000 square metres. 
• Play equipment will not overlook nearby gardens 
• Is positioned beside a pedestrian pathway on a well-used, well-lit route 
• Has a sufficient buffer zone to allow a minimum distance of 30 metres 
between the edge of the activity zone and the boundary of the nearest 
residential property 
• Occupies a well-drained site with a grass or a hard surface and features an 
appropriate impact absorbing surface beneath and around the play 
equipment conforming to EN1177. 
• Contains a minimum of 8 types of play equipment and each type of play 
equipment should be designed to stimulate one of the following activities: 
• Balancing, 
• Rocking, 
• Climbing/Agility, 
• Sliding, 
• Social play, 
• Additional items may focus upon rotating, swinging, jumping, crawling, 
viewing, counting or touching. 
• The playground equipment must conform to EN1176 
• Contain the appropriate amount of seating for parents and/or carers 
• Contain an appropriate number of litter bins for the size of the Play area 
• Has a dog proof fence (preferably metal bow topped) with a minimum of two 
self-closing gates on opposite sides of the play area, to deter entry by dogs 
and to restrict opportunities for bullying 
• An appropriately worded information sign outside entrances to the play area. 

Any play area will need to be managed and maintained to current ROSPA 
guidelines - https://www.rospa.com/play-safety/advice/code-of-practice 
 

Page 39



Reason 
To ensure adequate play equipment is provided in accordance with Policy 
GE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
  

9. 

An investigation and risk assessment (in addition to any assessment provided 
with the planning application), must be completed in accordance with a 
scheme to assess the nature and extent of any contamination on the site; 
whether or not it originates on the site; and any report of the findings must be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority prior to 
the commencement of development (including any demolition). The report of 
the findings, to be conducted in accordance with Environment Agency 
Guidance Land Contamination: Risk Management (2021) and must include 
(i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination; (ii) an 
assessment of the potential risk to; human health, property (existing or 
proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and service 
lines and pipes, adjoining land, groundwaters and surface waters, ecological 
systems, archaeological sites and ancient monuments; (iii) an appraisal of 
remedial options and proposal of the preferred option(s) 

Reason 

To safeguard health, safety and the environment in accordance with Policy 
EM6 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and the aims and objectives of the 
NPPF 
  

10. 

The development shall only be undertaken in accordance with a detailed 
remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended 
use by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other 
property and the natural and historical environment, which shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme must 
include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and 
remediation criteria, timetable of works and site management procedures. 
The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land 
under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the 
intended use of the land after remediation. 

Reason 

To safeguard health, safety and the environment in accordance with Policy 
EM6 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and the aims and objectives of the 
NPPF 
  

11. 

The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its 
terms prior to the commencement of development other than that required to 
carry out the remediation. The Local Planning Authority must be given two 
weeks written notification of commencement of the remediation scheme 
works.  

Reason To safeguard health, safety and the environment in accordance with Policy 
EM6 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and the aims and objectives of the 

Page 40



NPPF 
  

12. 

Prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted and following 
completion of the measures identified within the remediation scheme 
approved under condition No. 11, a verification report that demonstrates the 
effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be produced and submitted 
to the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing 

Reason 

To safeguard health, safety and the environment in accordance with Policy 
EM6 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and the aims and objectives of the 
NPPF 
  

13. 

In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development, that was not previously identified, it must be reported 
in writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and 
risk assessment must be undertaken in accordance with the requirements of 
condition 9, and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must 
be prepared in accordance with the requirements of condition 10, which shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation 
scheme a verification report must be prepared, which is subject to the 
approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority in accordance with 
condition 12. 

Reason 

To safeguard health, safety and the environment in accordance with Policy 
EM6 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and the aims and objectives of the 
NPPF 
  

14. 
Any gas boilers installed on site shall have a dry NOx emission rate of no 
more than 40mg/kWh. One electric vehicle recharging point per dwelling shall 
be provided prior to occupation and shall not be removed or altered in any 
way and shall be kept available for such use by residents at all times. 

Reason 

To mitigate the impacts of development on air quality in accordance with 
Policy DS3 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and the aims and objectives of 
the NPPF. 
  

15. 

Prior to the commencement of development, a method statement detailing 
the control of emissions into the air during the demolition/construction phase 
should be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The method statement should accord with the Best Practice 
Guidance - 'The control of dust and emissions from construction and 
demolition' and include:- a) proposed hours of work; b) map with nearest 
receptors and distances for dust and noise; c) noise impact on nearest 

Page 41



neighbours and control measures as required; d) monitoring methods and 
measurement locations for dust and noise recording details; e) dust mitigation 
measures; f) contact details for responsible persons and site personnel 
training; and g) information provision and liaison with local residents. The 
development shall only proceed in full accordance with the approved details. 

Reason 
To protect the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring residential 
occupiers in accordance with Policy EM7 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
  

16. 

A noise assessment shall be submitted with the appearance, layout, and 
scale reserved matters applications for each phase of development, and 
which also has regard to the adjacent RSPCA site. The noise assessment 
shall include results for LAeq, LA max, and LA90 noise descriptors, together 
with a calculated arithmetical average for the LAeq. The assessment will 
demonstrate by calculation that internal noise levels for the proposed 
residential property meet the 'Good' criteria set out in British Standard 8233 
'Sound Insulation and Noise Reduction for Buildings' together with any 
mitigation measures that are required to achieve this. The report shall also 
demonstrate that outdoor garden and leisure areas associated with this 
development meet the 55dB limit as required by the World Health 
Organisation (WHO). Prior to the first occupation of the buildings any 
necessary mitigation measures shall have been implemented in full 
accordance with the recommendations of the noise assessment and 
thereafter shall not be removed or altered in any way. 

Reason 

To protect the amenities of future occupiers from road traffic noise and 
general disturbance in accordance with Policy H3 of the Coventry Local 
Plan 2016. 
  

17. 
The development hereby permitted shall only proceed in strict accordance 
with a scheme for targeting and utilising local people for construction and 
employment, which shall be submitted to an approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

Reason 
To secure local employment in accordance with the City Council jobs 
strategy and Policy JE7 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
  

18. 

A written scheme of archaeological investigation shall be submitted to and 
approved by the local planning authority prior to submission of the reserved 
matters for each phase or sub-phase of development. This shall include a 
detailed programme of archaeological works. An evaluation report shall be 
submitted for approval with reserved matters applications for development 
within all phases. The development shall only proceed in full accordance 
with these approved details. 

Page 42



Reason 

The submission of these details is fundamental to mitigate the effect of the 
works associated with the development upon any heritage assets and to 
ensure that information regarding these heritage assets is preserved by 
record for this and future generations in accordance with Policy HE2 of the 
Coventry Local Plan 2016 
  

19. 

No development (including any demolition or preparatory works) shall 
commence unless and until a Biodiversity Method Statement for bats and 
breeding/ wintering birds, including Reasonable Avoidance Measures, has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The development shall only be carried out in strict accordance with the 
approved Biodiversity Method Statement. 

Reason 

To ensure that protected species are not harmed by the development in 
accordance with Policy GE3 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and the 
advice contained within the NPPF 2018. 
  

20. 

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, details of 
general ecological habitat enhancement measures and hedgehog mitigation 
measures shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Such measures shall include; retention and management of 
boundary vegetation, and hedgehog friendly boundary fencing and gates. 
The habitat enhancement measures shall be undertaken in strict accordance 
with the approved details prior to the first occupation of the development and 
thereafter shall be retained and shall not be removed or altered in any way. 

Reason 

To ensure that protected species are not harmed by the development in 
accordance with Policy GE3 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and the 
advice contained within the NPPF 2018. 
  

21. 

No removal of trees/ hedges/shrubs/ or demolition of buildings/ structures 
shall take place between 1st March and 31st August (inclusive) unless a 
survey to assess the nesting bird activity on the site during this period has 
been undertaken by a qualified surveyor, and a scheme to protect any nesting 
birds identified on the site has first been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. No tress/ hedges or shrubs shall be removed 
or buildings/ structures shall be demolished between 1st March and 31st 
August (inclusive) other than in strict accordance with the approved bird 
nesting protection scheme. 

Reason 

To ensure that protected species are not harmed by the development in 
accordance with Policy GE3 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and the 
advice contained within the NPPF 2018. 
  

Page 43



22. 

No development (including any demolition or preparatory works) shall 
commence unless and until a scheme ('the offsetting scheme') for the 
offsetting of biodiversity impacts at the site has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The offsetting scheme 
shall include: a) a methodology for the identification of receptor site(s); b) the 
identification of receptor site(s); c) details of the offset requirements of the 
development (in accordance with the recognised offsetting metrics standard 
outlines in the Defra Metrics Guidance dated March 2012, or any document 
that may update or supersede that guidance). d) the provision of 
arrangements to secure the delivery of the offsetting measures (including a 
timetable for their delivery); and e) a management and monitoring plan (to 
include for the provision and maintenance of the offsetting measures in 
perpetuity). The offsetting scheme shall be implemented in strict accordance 
with the approved details within three months of the first occupation of the 
development hereby permitted and thereafter shall not be withdrawn or 
amended in any way. 

Reason 

In order to safeguard and enhance habitat and secure an overall 
biodiversity gain in accordance with Policy GE3 of the Coventry Local Plan 
2016. 
  

23. 

Prior to the installation of any street lighting or any external lighting to be fixed 
to any building(s), an external lighting strategy (including a plan) shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
strategy shall demonstrate that lighting shall be kept to a minimum at night in 
order to minimise impact on emerging and foraging bats, and to restrict light 
spillage onto foraging corridors. The lighting shall be installed in full 
accordance with the approved strategy and all lighting thereafter shall be 
subsequently maintained in strict accordance with the approved details. 

Reason 

To ensure that protected species are not harmed by the development in 
accordance with Policy GE3 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and the 
advice contained within the NPPF 2018. 
  

24. 

Prior to the first occupation of the development within each phase hereby 
permitted, details of bin storage areas for that phase shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The bin storage 
areas shall be provided in full accordance with the approved details prior to 
first occupation of the development. All bins which serve the development 
within the red line site area must be stored within the approved bin storage 
area and not positioned on the public highway or in the open, unless on bin 
collection days. The bin storage areas thereafter shall remain available for 
use at all times and shall not be removed or altered in any way.  

Page 44



Reason 

In the interests of the amenities of future occupants of the residential 
accommodation and neighbouring occupiers in accordance with Policy DE1 
of the Coventry Local Plan 2016.  
  

25. 

No lighting or illumination of any part of any building or the site shall be 
installed or operated unless and until details of such measures have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and such 
works, and use of that lighting and/or illumination, shall be carried out and 
operated only in full accordance with those approved details.  

Reason 
To safeguard the amenities of the adjoining occupiers of the development in 
accordance with Policy DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
  

26. 

Prior to the first occupation of the development within each phase hereby 
permitted, details of a scheme which sets out where and how 'Secured by 
Design' standards will be incorporated into the development, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These 
measures should be installed in full accordance with the approved details 
prior to first occupation of the development and thereafter shall be retained 
and shall not be removed or altered in any way 

Reason 

To ensure Secured by Design standards are met, in the interests of safety 
and security and the health and wellbeing of future occupiers of the 
development in accordance with Policies DS3, H3 and DE1 of the Coventry 
Local Plan 2016. 
  

27. 

The landscaping details within each phase to be submitted and approved by 
Condition 1 of this approval shall be installed and planted in accordance with 
those details to be submitted. Any tree(s) or shrub(s) which within a period of 
ten years from the completion of the development dies, is removed or 
becomes; in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority; seriously damaged, 
defective, or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with 
another of similar size and species. All hedging, tree(s) and shrub(s) shall be 
planted in accordance with British Standard BS 8545:2014 Trees: from 
nursery to independence in the landscape - Recommendations and BS4428 
- Code of Practice for General Landscape Operations. 

Reason 

To ensure a satisfactory standard of appearance of the development in the 
interests of the visual amenities of the area in accordance with Policies GE1 
and DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
  

28. 
None of the dwellings hereby permitted shall be occupied unless and until the 
car and cycling parking provision for that dwelling has been constructed or 
laid out and made available for use by the occupants and / or visitors to the 

Page 45



dwellings and thereafter those spaces shall be retained for parking purposes 
at all time and shall not be removed or altered in any way. 

Reason 

To ensure the satisfactory provision of off-street vehicle parking facilities in 
accordance with the Council's standards and in the interests of highway 
safety and the satisfactory development of the site in accordance with 
Policies AC1,AC2 and AC3 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
  

29. 

Prior to the first occupation of the development within each phase hereby 
permitted, details of cycle parking facilities shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The cycle parking 
facilities shall be provided in full accordance with the approved details prior 
to first occupation of the building and thereafter those facilities shall remain 
available for use at all times and shall not be removed or altered in any way. 

Reason 

In the interests of encouraging the use of alternative modes of transport with 
the aim of creating a more sustainable city in accordance with Policies DS3, 
AC3 and AC4 of the Coventry Local 2016. 
  

30. 

No development (including any demolition) shall take place unless and until 
a Construction Management Plan (CMP) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CMP shall include 
details of: - hours of work; - hours of deliveries to the site; - the parking of 
vehicles of site operatives and visitors during the demolition/construction 
phase; - the delivery access point; - the loading and unloading of plant and 
materials; - anticipated size and frequency of vehicles moving to/from the site; 
- the storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; - 
the erection and maintenance of a security hoarding including decorative 
displays and facilities for public viewing where appropriate; - wheel washing 
facilities and other measures to ensure that any vehicle, plant or equipment 
leaving the application site does not carry mud or deposit other materials onto 
the public highway; - measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during 
demolition and construction; - measures to control the presence of asbestos; 
- measures to minimise noise disturbance to neighbouring properties during 
demolition and construction; - details of any piling together with details of how 
any associated vibration will be monitored and controlled; a lorry routing 
agreement with prohibited route details & location of appropriate signage and 
- a scheme for recycling / disposing of waste resulting from demolition and 
construction works. Thereafter, the approved details within the CMP shall be 
strictly adhered to throughout the construction period and shall not be 
amended in any way. 

Reason 
The agreement of a Construction Management Plan prior to the 
commencement of development is fundamental to ensure a satisfactory 
level of environmental protection; to minimise disturbance to local residents 

Page 46



and in the interests of highway safety during the construction process in 
accordance with Policies  AC1 and AC2 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
  

31. 

The Travel Plan within the Environmental Impact Assessment Volume 2 
Section 1 hereby approved shall be implemented in full accordance with the 
details specified therein. The Travel Plan, as approved shall be monitored 
and reviewed in accordance with the approved Travel Plan targets and shall 
not be amended in any way. 

Reason 

In the interests of encouraging the use of alternative modes of transport with 
the aim of creating a more sustainable city in accordance with Policies DS3, 
AC3 and AC4 of the Coventry Local 2016. 
  

32. 

Before any dwellinghouse is first occupied the road(s)/ 
footway(s)/cycleway(s) shall be constructed to binder course level from the 
dwellinghouse to the adjoining adopted highway network in accordance with 
the details to be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, in 
consultation with the Highway Authority. 

Reason 
In the interests of highways safety in accordance with the aims and 
objectives of Policies AC1 and AC2 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
  

33. 

Notwithstanding any approved details, no development of the vehicular 
access shall commence unless full engineering and constructional details of 
the proposed highway works listed as a) to e) below, shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority and no part of the 
development shall be occupied or otherwise brought into use until the 
approved works have been completed to the written satisfaction of the local 
planning authority and opened to traffic. The approved works shall be 
retained until such time as the Proposed Site Access Arrangements have 
been completed to the satisfaction of the local planning authority. List of 
proposed highway works: 

a) Proposed Browns Lane Site Access Junction as shown indicatively on 
drawing 408218-MMD-HW-XX-DR-C- 0011 Rev P5 

b) Proposed Wall Hill Road Site Access Roundabout as shown indicatively 
on drawing 408218-MMD-HW-XXDR-C-0001 Rev P5 

c) Proposed Coundon Wedge Drive Pedestrian & Cyclist Access as shown 
indicatively on drawing 408218-MMD-HW-DR0021 rev P1 

Page 47



d) Proposed Browns Lane Pedestrian & Cyclist Access (adjacent to 
Freshfield Close) as shown indicatively on Land Use Plan DWG COV0449-
006 Rev D 

e) Proposed Access from Lyons Drive as shown indicatively on Land Use 
Plan DWG COV0449-006 Rev D 

Reason 

In the interests of highway safety and the free flow of traffic on the adjacent 
highway network in accordance with the aims and objectives of Policies 
AC1 and Ac2 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
  

34. 

The following shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority together 
with reserved matters applications for each phase of development: 

a) Tree Survey - a detailed scaled plan (to a scale and level of accuracy 
appropriate to the proposal) showing the position of every tree on the site, 
and every tree on land adjacent to the site (including street trees) that is 
likely to have an effect upon or be affected by the proposal (e.g. by shade, 
crown overhang from the boundary, intrusion of the Root Protection Area. 
The Veteran trees require a x15 dbh stem multiplier for their Root protection 
area radius. The green buffer which runs along the site boundary with 
Coundon Wedge (W1 within tree survey) requires to be a minimum width of 
15m in line with its widest section. A minimum set-back distance of 15m is 
required in order for the plots to be of a reasonable minimum distance away 
from the Coundon Wedge buffer; 

b) a schedule of the trees surveyed; 

c) Tree Constraints Plan to include tree retentions/ removed superimpose 
upon a proposed layout; 

d) Arboricultural Impact Assessment to assess the direct and indirect 
implications of trees upon the proposal and visa-versa, including locations 
for under-ground/ over-ground services, level changes within RPA's etc.; 

e) Arboricultural Method Statement; 

f) Dimensioned Tree Protection Plan and 

g) A CAVAT assessment will be required for any proposed tree removals.  

The approved mitigation and / or protection measures shall be put into place 
prior to the commencement of any works and shall remain in place during 
all construction work. 

Page 48



 
 

Reason 

To protect those trees which are of significant amenity value to the area and 
which would provide an enhanced standard of appearance to the 
development in accordance with Policy GE3 and GE4 of the Coventry Local 
Plan 2016 
  

35. 

Prior to the first occupation of the development in any phase hereby permitted 
a Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The content of the 
LEMP shall include the following: a) Description and evaluation of features to 
be managed; b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence 
management; c) Aims and objectives of management, including mitigation 
and enhancement for species identified on site; d) Appropriate management 
option for achieving aims and objectives; e) Prescriptions for management 
actions; f) Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan 
capable of being rolled forward over a ten-year period); g) Details of the body 
or organisation responsible for implementation of the plan, along with funding 
mechanism(s) for that body or organisation; h) Ongoing monitoring and 
remedial measures, including where monitoring shows that conservation 
aims and objectives of the LEMP are not being met. The LEMP plan shall be 
implemented in strict accordance with the approved details within three 
months of the first occupation of the development and thereafter shall not be 
withdrawn or amended in any way. 

Reason 

In order to safeguard and enhance habitat on or adjacent to the site in order 
to secure an overall biodiversity gain in accordance with Policy GE3 of the 
Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
  

36. 

Notwithstanding the details submitted the following details for each phase 
shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority 
(LPA) for the provision of a Sustainable urban Drainage System (SuDS) in 
accordance with the latest available design guidance for each reserved 
matters application. The submission shall include all relevant details and 
calculations to enable a full evaluation to be undertaken, and clear and 
accountable consideration shall be given to the following features: 
• Open Air storage or attenuation in the form of a wet pond, dry basin, swale 
or other similar surface feature, aimed at managing water quantity, quality 
and introducing biodiversity at the ground surface. 
• General below ground attenuation, aimed solely at managing the quantity 
of water on site (Note: preference should be given to localised cellular storage 
unless there is no possible mechanism for doing so) 

Page 49



• Water quality control mediums such as permeable paving, filter drains, rain 
gardens, ponds or swales aimed at improving the quality of water passing 
through the system either above or below ground. 
• The use of water harvesting and grey water reuse at individual plot level 
within the development. This consideration should include both the 
deployment of water butts, and dedicated tank-based storage where 
appropriate and any reasons for NOT using should be clearly stated. All in 
accordance with Coventry City Council’s Supplementary Planning Document 
“Delivering a more Sustainable City”. 
• The deployment of green roof technology on suitable roof structures within 
the development 
• The use of infiltration drainage either as above ground (open air) or below 
ground (buried) – to be accompanied by a full intrusive Geotechnical Site 
Investigation. 
• The stormwater discharge rates from the development shall be managed in 
order to reduce flood risk to surrounding sites, downstream areas or the wider 
environment by means of a flow control mechanism (or mechanisms) limiting 
the total site discharge offsite to Qbar greenfield runoff minus 20%. The 
discharge rates for brownfield sites shall be considered as greenfield in 
accordance with the CCC SFRA. 
• A detailed strategy document must be submitted to, and approved in writing 
by, the LPA for the long-term inspection and maintenance of the SuDS and 
other surface water drainage elements on site. It should also mention any 
notable Health and Safety or specialist training, and special equipment 
required as part of the routine maintenance. 
• Single outfall points will be discouraged on larger sites, as outfall points 
should be located to best mimic the natural discharge condition. 
• An appropriately scaled intrusive ground investigation report must be 
provided to establish the depth and type of strata, including percolation 
results in accordance with BRE 365 and identifying the presence and risk 
associated with migrant or soluble contaminants. Please provide evidence of 
existing groundwater levels and seasonal variation, in order to inform the 
drainage design. 
• Prior to the commencement of any works on site, provisions must be made 
for the drainage of the site to ensure there are no temporary increases in 
flood risk, on or off site, during the construction phase. This should be 
covered under environmental risks in the Site-Specific CEMP. 
• Evidence must be provided to show the management of overland flow 
routes in the event of exceedance or blockage of the drainage system. Details 
should include demonstration of how the buildings will be protected in such 
an event. 
• Provisions must be made for the drainage of the site to ensure there is no 
discharge of surface water to the Public Highway. 
• Where new or redevelopment site levels result in the severance, diversion 
or reception of natural (or engineered) land drainage flow, the developer shall 
maintain existing flow routes (where there are no flood risk or safety 

Page 50



implications) or intercept these flows and discharge these by a method 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. 
• A wayleave of at least 5m must be provided from the top bank of 
any Ordinary watercourse to the building line. 
• Foul drainage plans 
The drainage details shall be installed in full accordance with the approved 
documentation prior to occupation of the development and thereafter shall be 
maintained and shall not be removed or altered in any way.  

Reason 

To ensure that adequate drainage facilities are available for the satisfactory 
and proper development of the site in accordance with policies EM1, EM4 
and EM5 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and Coventry City Councils 
adopted Supplementary Planning Document for Delivering a More 
Sustainable City. 
  

37. 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015, as amended, or any Order revoking 
and re-enacting that Order with or without modification, the use indicated as 
a care home on Land Use Plan DWG COV0449-006 Rev D hereby 
permitted shall be used only as a Residential Care Home under Use Class 
C2 and for no other purpose (even if such other purpose would not 
otherwise require planning permission or would otherwise be permitted by 
any legislation). 

Reason 

It is considered necessary to strictly control the nature and intensity of the 
use of the site and only the approved use has been considered in 
establishing whether the proposal would have acceptable impacts in this 
location, and other use would require further detailed consideration in 
accordance with Policies DE1 and DS3 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
  

38. 

No fixed plant and/or machinery shall be operated at the Residential Care 
Home unless and until details of the fixed plant and/or machinery, including 
any mitigation measures, has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The rating level of the noise emitted from the 
plant and machinery shall not exceed the current background noise level at 
the nearest off-site residential receptor. The noise levels shall be 
determined by measurements or calculations at the nearest off site, noise 
sensitive premises. The measurements and assessment shall be made 
according to BS 4142:2014. All details shall be carried out as approved prior 
to first occupation of the development and any mitigation measures shall 
remain in place thereafter and shall not be removed or altered in any way. 
 

Page 51



 

Reason 
To safeguard the amenities of the adjoining occupiers of the development in 
accordance with Policy DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
  

Page 52



COV0449 - 001
Draft
A
1:1,250 @ A1
AJF
12.07.2022

A: Include highway works | 12.07 | AJF

Brown’s Lane, Allesley, Coventry
Coventry City Council
Site Location

0 100
metres

HAWKES MILL LANE
C

LO
SE

B
U

R
TO

N

B
R

O
W

N
'S

 L
A

N
E

W
A

LL H
ILL R

O
A

D

HAWKES MILL LANE

C
H

A
P

E
L 

G
A

R
D

E
N

S

LO
N

G
 L

A
N

E

W
A

LL H
ILL RO

A
D

BROWNSHILL GREEN ROAD

N
O

R
TH

 B
R

O
O

K
 R

O
A

D

C
O

U
N

D
O

N
 W

ED
G

E D
RIV

E

SAYER D
RIV

E

CLOSE

FRESHFIELD

BROW
N'S LANE

LYO
NS DRIVE

W
ALM

SLEY C
LO

SE

HO
RNETS C

LO
SE

LY
O

N
S D

RIV
E

LY
O

N
S D

RIV
E

LEGEND

Illustrative layout

Proposed dwelling

Rear gardens

Proposed care home allocation
(1.87ha)

Public open space

Site boundary
(18.54ha)

Proposed tree

Existing tree

Proposed Hedgerow

Existing Hedgerow

Pond

Proposed highway

Proposed private driveway

Public realm

Children’s play area

Proposed footpath/ cycle route

Existing bus stop

Access & Movement

Existing listed building

Existing pub/ restaurant/ cafe

Existing retail

Existing employment/ commercial building

Local land uses

Landscape & Ecology

Existing public footpath

Contour levels

Existing pond

150.0

150.5

Ordnance Survey material is used with the permission of the Controller of HMSO, Crown copyright 0100031673

Node
Imperial & Whitehall
23 Colmore Row
Birmingham
B3 2BS

thisisnode.com | 0121 667 9259

Drawing Ref:
Status:

Revision:
Scale:

Drawn by:
Date of issue:

Revisions

Site:
Client:

Title:

P
age 53



0 100
metres

HAWKES MILL LANE
C

LO
SE

B
U

R
TO

N

B
R

O
W

N
'S

 L
A

N
E

W
A

LL
H

ILL
R

O
A

D

HAWKES MILL LANE

C
H

A
P

E
L 

G
A

R
D

E
N

S

LO
N

G
LA

N
E

W
A

LL H
ILL RO

A
D

BROWNSHILL GREEN ROAD

N
O

R
TH

 B
R

O
O

K
 R

O
A

D

C
O

U
N

D
O

N
 W

ED
G

E D
RIV

E

SAYER
DRIV

E

CLOSE

FRESHFIELD

BROW
N'S LANE

LYO
NS

DRIVE

W
ALM

SLEY
CLO

SE

HO
RNETS C

LO
SE

LY
O

N
S D

RIV
E

LY
O

N
S D

RIV
E

LEGEND

Site boundary
18.54ha

Land use
Proposed highway

Public open space

Building heights

Landscape & Ecology
Existing tree

Up to 1 storey development

Up to 2 storey development

Up to 3 storey development

Existing hedgerow

Contour levels

Existing pond

150.0

150.5

Ordnance Survey material is used with the permission of the Controller of HMSO, Crown copyright 0100031673

A: Change to legend
B: Updated access arrangements

Brown’s Lane, Allesley, Coventry 
Coventry City Council 
Building height plan

COV0449 - 007
Final
B
1:1,250 @ A1
KK
05.06.2023

Node
Imperial & Whitehall
23 Colmore Row
Birmingham
B3 2BS

thisisnode.com | 0121 667 9259

Drawing Ref:
Status:

Revision:
Scale:

Drawn by:
Date of issue:

Revisions

Site:
Client:

Title:

P
age 54



COV0449 - 005
Final
H
1:1,250 @ A1
KK
16.08.2023

A: Revised framework| 07.04 | AJF
B: Access arrangements | 25.04 | AJF
C: Amend care home annotation | 21.06 | AJF
D: Revised application boundary | 13.07 | AJF
E: Officers’ comments | 09.03.23 | KK
F: Updated access arrangements | 05.06.23 | KK
G: Additional footpaths | 08.06.23 | KK
H: Pedestrian link amendment | 16.06.23 | KK

Brown’s Lane, Allesley, Coventry
Coventry City Council
Illustrative Layout

0 100
metres

LEGEND

Illustrative layout

Proposed dwelling

Rear gardens

Proposed care home allocation
(1.87ha)

Public open space

Site boundary
(18.54ha)

Proposed tree

Existing tree

Proposed hedgerow

Existing hedgerow

Pond

Proposed highway

Proposed private driveway

Public realm

Children’s play area

Proposed footpath/ cycle route

Existing bus stop

Access & Movement

Existing listed building

Existing pub/ restaurant/ cafe

Existing retail

Existing employment/ commercial building

Local land uses

Landscape & Ecology

Existing public footpath

Contour levels

Existing pond

150.0

150.5

AttenuAtion 
BAsin

AttenuAtion 
BAsin

AttenuAtion 
BAsin

CAre Home

neAp And mugA

Ordnance Survey material is used with the permission of the Controller of HMSO, Crown copyright 0100031673

Node
Imperial & Whitehall
23 Colmore Row
Birmingham
B3 2BS

thisisnode.com | 0121 667 9259

Drawing Ref:
Status:

Revision:
Scale:

Drawn by:
Date of issue:

Revisions

Site:
Client:

Title:

P
age 55



COV0449 - 006
Final
D
1:1,250 @ A1
KK
16.08.2023

A: Updates to reflect officer comments
B: Updated access arrangements / highways
C: Updated footpath network
D: Pedestrian link amendment

Brown’s Lane, Allesley, Coventry
Coventry City Council
Land use plan

0 100
metres

HAWKES MILL LANE
C

LO
SE

B
U

R
TO

N

B
R

O
W

N
'S

 L
A

N
E

W
A

LL H
ILL R

O
A

D

HAWKES MILL LANE

C
H

A
P

E
L 

G
A

R
D

E
N

S

LO
N

G
 L

A
N

E

W
A

LL H
ILL RO

A
D

BROWNSHILL GREEN ROAD

N
O

R
TH

 B
R

O
O

K
 R

O
A

D

C
O

U
N

D
O

N
 W

ED
G

E D
RIV

E

SAYER D
RIV

E

CLOSE

FRESHFIELD

BROW
N'S LANE

LYO
NS DRIVE

W
ALM

SLEY C
LO

SE

HO
RNETS C

LO
SE

LY
O

N
S D

RIV
E

LY
O

N
S D

RIV
E

A�enuation
Basin

A�enuation
Basin

A�enuation
Basin

NEAP

MUGA

119
.5

12
0.
5

12
1.0

12
1.5

12
2.
0

12
3.
0

12
3.5

12
4.
0

12
4.
5

12
2.
0

12
1.5

12
1.0

12
0.
5

11
9.
5

11
9.
0

11
8.
5

11
8.
0

117
.0

118
.0

118
.5

119
.0

119
.5

12
0.
5

12
1.0

12
1.5

12
3.
0 12
2.
0

12
1.5 12
1.0 12

0.
5

11
9.
5

11
9.
0

11
8.
5

11
8.
0

11
6.
511
7.
0

11
6.
0

115
.5

11
4.
5

11
4.
0

113
.5

113
.0

11
5.
5116

.011
6.
5117

.0

11
8.
0

11
4.
5

115
.5

116
.0

116
.5

117.0

118
.0

118
.5

119
.0

119.5

120
.5

121.
5

12
2.0

12
3.0

12
3.5

12
4.0

12
4.5

12
5.5

12
6.
0

12
6.
5

12
7.
0

12
9.
5

12
9.
0

12
8.
5

12
8.
0

13
0.
5

12
9.
0

12
8.
5

12
1.0

12
1.5

12
2.
0

12
3.
0

12
3.5

12
4.
0

12
4.
5

125.
5

12
6.
0

12
6.
5

12
7.0

12
8.
0

129
.5

130
.5

129.0

130.5

128.0

128.5

129.0

129.5

130.5

13
0.
5

12
9.
5

12
9.
0

12
8.
5

12
8.
0

12
7.
0

12
6.
5

12
6.
0

12
5.
5

12
4.
5

127.0

128.0

128.5

129.0

129.5

12
9.5

12
9.0

12
8.
5

12
8.0

12
7.0

12
6.
5

12
7.0

12
8.012

8.512
9.0

128.0 128.5 129.0

128.0

128.5

129.0

127.0

129
.0

128.
5

12
9.
0

128.5

129.0

129.5

129.5

130
.5

12
0.

0

12
2.

5

12
5.

0

12
2.

5

12
0.

0

11
7.

5

11
7.

5

12
0.0

12
2.

5

12
0.

0

11
7.

5

11
5.

0 11
2.

5

11
5.

0

11
7.

5

117.5

120.0

12
2.

5

12
5.0

13
0

.0

12
7.5

12
2.

5

12
5.

0

12
7.

5

13
0.0

130.0

13
0.

0

12
7.

5

12
5.

0

127.5

130.0

13
0.0

12
7.5

12
7.5

127.5

127.5

130.0

130.0

LEGEND

Site boundary
(18.54ha)

Residential development
(40dph)

Land use

Proposed care home
(1.87ha)

Public open space

Children’s play

Existing bus stop

Principal street

Access & Movement

Residential street

Informal street

Existing public footpath

Proposed strategic pedestrian / cycle connection

Proposed strategic pedestrian connection

Potential future connection to Lyons Drive 
(subject to further discussion & necessary agreements being in place)

Potential pedestrian access point 
(subject to reserved ma�ers application)

Underground electricity cable

Infrastructure
Existing gas main
(7.5m development easement)

Existing listed building

Existing pub/ restaurant/ cafe

Existing retail

Existing employment/ commercial building

Local land uses

Landscape & Ecology
Existing tree

Existing hedgerow

Contour levels

Existing pond

150.0

150.5

Ordnance Survey material is used with the permission of the Controller of HMSO, Crown copyright 0100031673

Node
Imperial & Whitehall
23 Colmore Row
Birmingham
B3 2BS

thisisnode.com | 0121 667 9259

Drawing Ref:
Status:

Revision:
Scale:

Drawn by:
Date of issue:

Revisions

Site:
Client:

Title:

P
age 56



Proposed uncontrolled crossing

Proposed uncontrolled
crossing

Burton Close

Access to development

Br
ow

ns
 La

ne

Br
ow

ns
 L

an
e

Apron for vehicle overrun

Road markings

Channel line

Back of footway

Proposed tactile paving

Key to symbols

App’dCh’k’dDescriptionDrawnDateRev

Revision

Suit. Code

Drawing Number

Scale at A1

Eng check

Approved

Coordination

Dwg check

Drawn 

Designed

Title

Notes

Reference drawings

Security

Client

Suitability Description

Sheet of

MMD Project Number

Status Stamp

C:\Users\NAR103526\OneDrive - Mott MacDonald\Browns lane\Final drawing\New\Compact roundabout proposals - Models - R2.dwg May 26, 2023 -
9:57AM NAR103526

T
F
W

©

Browns Lane
Development Access
Browns Lane Access
Compact Roundabout Design Option

1
A.Narayana AN

A. Narayana AN

C.Searson CS

C. Searson CS

C.Searson CS

J.Rees JR

1:250

S3

P5

STD

35 Newhall Streeet

Birmingham

United Kingdom

B3 3PU

+44 (0)121 234 1500

+44 (0)121 200 3295

www.mottmac.com

This document is issued for the party which commissioned it and for specific purposes connected with the captioned project only. It should not be relied upon by any other party or used for any other purpose.
We accept no responsibility for the consequences of this document being relied upon by any other party, or being used for any other purpose, or containing any error or omission which is due to an error or omission in data supplied to us by other parties.

Mott MacDonald FOR REVIEW AND COMMENT

408218-MMD-HW-XX-DR-C-0011

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

P1 17/01/2022 JK Preliminary issue CS JR

P2 01/12/2022 JK Pedestrian crossings added CS JR

P3 15/12/2022 JK Designer's response to RSA CS JR

P4 02/05/2023 AN Response to LHA CS JR

P5 26/05/2023 AN Designer's response to RSA CS JR

1

408218

1. All dimensions are in meters unless otherwise stated.
2. Do not scale any items or information from this drawing.

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey base map with permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office, Crown Copyright
Licence No. 100026294, 2021. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or Civil Proceedings. 1:250

0 25m12.5m

P
age 57

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
360

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
356

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
358a

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
358

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
352

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
342



Proposed uncontrolled crossing

Apron for vehicle overrun

Hawkes Mill Lane

Wall Hill Road

W
all Hill Road

Ac
ce

ss
 to

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t

Proposed uncontrolled crossing

Provision of High Friction Surfacing on approaches
to roundabout to be considered during detailed design

Road markings

Channel line

Back of footway

Proposed tactile paving

Key to symbols

App’dCh’k’dDescriptionDrawnDateRev

Revision

Suit. Code

Drawing Number

Scale at A1

Eng check

Approved

Coordination

Dwg check

Drawn 

Designed

Title

Notes

Reference drawings

Security

Client

Suitability Description

Sheet of

MMD Project Number

Status Stamp

C:\Users\NAR103526\OneDrive - Mott MacDonald\Browns lane\Final drawing\New\Compact roundabout proposals - Models - R2.dwg May 31, 2023 -
11:49AM NAR103526

T
F
W

©

Browns Lane
Development Access
Wall Hill Road Access
Compact Roundabout Design Option

1
A.Narayana AN

A. Narayana AN

C.Searson CS

C. Searson CS

C.Searson CS

J.Rees JR

1:250

S3

P5

STD

35 Newhall Streeet

Birmingham

United Kingdom

B3 3PU

+44 (0)121 234 1500

+44 (0)121 200 3295

www.mottmac.com

This document is issued for the party which commissioned it and for specific purposes connected with the captioned project only. It should not be relied upon by any other party or used for any other purpose.
We accept no responsibility for the consequences of this document being relied upon by any other party, or being used for any other purpose, or containing any error or omission which is due to an error or omission in data supplied to us by other parties.

Mott MacDonald FOR REVIEW AND COMMENT

408218-MMD-HW-XX-DR-C-0001

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

P1 17/01/2022 JK Preliminary issue CS JR

P2 01/12/2022 JK Pedestrian crossings added CS JR

P3 15/12/2022 JK Designer's response to RSA CS JR

P4 02/05/2023 AN Response to LHA CS JR

P5 26/05/2023 AN Designer's response to RSA CS JR

1

408218

1. All dimensions are in meters unless otherwise stated.
2. Do not scale any items or information from this drawing.

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey base map with permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office, Crown Copyright
Licence No. 100026294, 2021. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or Civil Proceedings. 1:250

0 25m12.5m

P
age 58

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
EL126.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
EL129.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
EL126.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
EL133.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
The White Lion

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
Pumping Station

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
(PH)



00 50 100

113

005010
0

11
3

Road Markings

Channel Line

Back of Footway

Visibility Profile Marker

El
ev

at
io

n

El
ev

at
io

n

120.00

130.00

140.00

120.00

130.00

140.00

 Chainage

 Existing Levels

00
.0

00

05
.0

00

10
.0

00

15
.0

00

20
.0

00

25
.0

00

30
.0

00

35
.0

00

40
.0

00

45
.0

00

50
.0

00

55
.0

00

60
.0

00

65
.0

00

70
.0

00

75
.0

00

80
.0

00

85
.0

00

90
.0

00

95
.0

00

10
0.

00
0

10
5.

00
0

11
0.

00
0

11
3.

01
1

12
5.

61
0

12
5.

69
9

12
8.

63
3

12
7.

00
9

12
6.

63
4

12
7.

57
0

12
9.

50
1

12
8.

79
9

13
1.

49
8

12
9.

53
5

12
7.

71
3

13
1.

71
4

13
0.

59
9

12
6.

86
7

12
5.

50
8

12
5.

47
0

12
6.

62
4

12
6.

23
5

12
5.

41
5

12
5.

50
4

12
6.

71
4

12
3.

73
3

12
3.

50
9

12
3.

37
8

El
ev

at
io

n

El
ev

at
io

n

120.00

130.00

140.00

120.00

130.00

140.00

 Chainage

 Existing Levels

00
.0

00

05
.0

00

10
.0

00

15
.0

00

20
.0

00

25
.0

00

30
.0

00

35
.0

00

40
.0

00

45
.0

00

50
.0

00

55
.0

00

60
.0

00

65
.0

00

70
.0

00

75
.0

00

80
.0

00

85
.0

00

90
.0

00

95
.0

00

10
0.

00
0

10
5.

00
0

11
0.

00
0

11
2.

74
3

12
5.

61
0

12
5.

54
6

12
5.

51
3

12
5.

42
1

12
7.

03
9

12
7.

86
1

12
5.

05
5

12
5.

69
0

12
7.

22
8

13
0.

73
9

12
6.

64
6

12
6.

10
2

12
3.

96
3

12
3.

76
2

12
3.

57
0

12
3.

36
8

12
4.

20
5

12
2.

98
2

12
2.

79
1

12
2.

59
2

12
2.

38
8

12
2.

18
4

12
1.

98
9

12
2.

22
2

Key to symbols

App’dCh’k’dDescriptionDrawnDateRev

RevStatus

Drawing Number

Scale at A1

Eng check

Approved

Coordination

Dwg check

Drawn 

Designed

Title

Notes

Client

Reference drawings

Security

P:\Birmingham\BNI\408218 - Browns Lane Estate\01 Cad\06 Drawings\408218-MMD-HW-DR-0021.dwg Jan 19, 2022 - 9:33AM KIR75650

T
F
W

©

Browns Lane
Development Access
Coundon Wedge Drive Junction
Proposed Junction Layout and Visibility

J Kirby

J Kirby

C Searson

C Searson

C Searson

J Rees

As Shown PRE

408218-MMD-HW-DR-0021

P1 STD

35 Newhall Street
Birmingham
B3 3PU
United Kingdom

+44 0121 234 1500

mottmac.com

This document is issued for the party which commissioned it and for specific purposes connected with the captioned project only. It should not be relied upon by any other party or used for any other purpose.
We accept no responsibility for the consequences of this document being relied upon by any other party, or being used for any other purpose, or containing any error or omission which is due to an error or omission in data supplied to us by other parties.

Mott MacDonald

Coundon Wedge Drive

Existing R
SPC

A Access

1. All dimensions are in metres unless otherwise stated.
2. Do not scale any items or information from this drawing.
3. Visibility profiles derived from LIDAR data (resolution 50cm and accuracy

(x/y +/- 10cm, z +/- 5cm RMSE)). Data anomalies have been reviewed and
commentary provided within the drawings.

4. Visibility splays are derived from observed 85th percentile vehicle speeds
and commensurate with Stopping Sight Distances (SSD), as calculated using
the SSD formula set out in Manual for Streets 2.

1:500
0 50m25m

Unknown spike in levels
within the survey, potentially

due to trees/shrubbery
located along the profile.

Unknown spike in
levels within the
survey, potentially due
to trees/shrubbery
located along the
profile.

Coundon Wedge Drive Visibility - Looking North
Scale - 1:200

Coundon Wedge Drive Junction Plan View
Scale - 1:500

Existing Ground Level

Proposed Visibility Splay

Coundon Wedge Drive Visibility - Looking South
Scale - 1:200

1:200
0 20m10m

P1 17.01.22 JK Preliminary Issue CS JR

Unknown spike in
levels within the
survey, potentially due
to trees/shrubbery
located along the
profile.

P
age 59

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
WL126.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
WL127.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
BL126.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
BL126.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
WL127.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
Brownshill Green

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
Farm

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
Kennels

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
Brownshill Green

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
Farm

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
Kennels



0 100
metres

HAWKES MILL LANE
C

LO
SE

B
U

R
TO

N

B
R

O
W

N
'S

 L
A

N
E

W
A

LL
H

ILL
R

O
A

D

HAWKES MILL LANE

C
H

A
P

E
L 

G
A

R
D

E
N

S

LO
N

G
LA

N
E

W
A

LL H
ILL RO

A
D

BROWNSHILL GREEN ROAD

N
O

R
TH

 B
R

O
O

K
 R

O
A

D

C
O

U
N

D
O

N
 W

ED
G

E D
RIV

E

SAYER
DRIV

E

CLOSE

FRESHFIELD

BROW
N'S LANE

LYO
NS

DRIVE

W
ALM

SLEY
CLO

SE

HO
RNETS C

LO
SE

LY
O

N
S D

RIV
E

LY
O

N
S D

RIV
E

44

H6

G3

H11H11H11
G4

H8

45

7

W1

H9

H10
H7

H3

H5

H4

12

H1H1

33

G2

H2

48

46

49

43

39
38

35

32
25

20

18

8

4

2

1

23

30

42

G1

41

40

37

31
29

28

27

26

24

21

19

17 16
15

14

11

10

9

6

5

3

LEGEND

Site boundary
(18.54ha)

Landscape & Ecology
Tree / hedgerow to be removed 

Category A trees

Category B trees

Category C trees

Category U trees: to be removed for reasons 
of sound arboricultural management

No category

Category A tree groups

Category B tree groups

Category C tree groups

Ordnance Survey material is used with the permission of the Controller of HMSO, Crown copyright 0100031673

-

Brown’s Lane, Allesley, Coventry 
Coventry City Council
Tree retention plan

COV0449 - 006
Final
-
1:1,250 @ A1
KK
07.06.2023

Node
Imperial & Whitehall
23 Colmore Row
Birmingham
B3 2BS

thisisnode.com | 0121 667 9259

Drawing Ref:
Status:

Revision:
Scale:

Drawn by:
Date of issue:

Revisions

Site:
Client:

Title:

P
age 60



 
 

Planning Committee Report 
Planning Ref:  PL/2023/0001356/PAEC 
Site:  16 Quinton Road, Coventry, CV1 2NJ  
Ward: Cheylesmore 
Proposal: Prior approval for proposed installation of 15.0m monopole 

and associated ancillary cabinets/works 
Case Officer: Liam D’Onofrio 

 
SUMMARY 
The application is for determination as to whether the prior approval of the Local Planning 
Authority is required to the siting and appearance of the development for the installation 
of a 15-metre-high monopole and associated equipment cabinets. The application is 
submitted under the requirements of The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) - Schedule 2, Part 16, Class A 
 
BACKGROUND 
The proposed installation is part of Cignal UK’s (formerly CK Hutchinson) network 
upgrade to rollout 5G network in the area. The proposal is recommended for approval. 
 
KEY FACTS 
 
Reason for report to 
committee: 

More than five objections received. 

Current use of site: Public footway. 
Proposed use of site: Telecommunications infrastructure – 15m high mast and 

cabinets. 
 
RECOMMENDATION  
 
Planning Committee are recommended to grant Prior Approval, subject to conditions. 
 
REASON FOR DECISION 

 The proposal is acceptable in principle.  
 The proposal will not adversely impact upon highway safety. 
 The proposal will have a minor impact upon the visual amenity of the area; 

however, the social and economic benefits outweigh any visual harm. 
 The proposal falls within the criteria of Schedule 2, Part 16, Class A of the Town 

and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as 
amended) (GPDO) and accords with the NPPF. 

SITE DESCRIPTION 
The application site relates to public footway on the western side of Quinton Road outside 
Listers Paint and Body Centre and just north of the road bridge that runs over the railway 
line. Offices are located on the opposite side of the road and the closest residential 

Page 61

Agenda Item 7



 
 

properties are located some 80m to the north. The site is within the built-up area of 
Coventry. 
 
APPLICATION PROPOSAL 
This is an application for a determination as to whether the Prior Approval of the Local 
Planning Authority will be required as to the siting and appearance of a 15m 
telecommunications mast and associated ancillary works, including four equipment 
cabinets. The application is supported by an ICNIRP certificate. 
 
The applicant states that: “There is now a requirement to upgrade the Cignal 
Infrastructure UK Limited (Three) network to provide improved coverage and capacity, 
most notably in relation to 5G services. As with all 5G cells this is an extremely 
constrained cell search area. Options are extremely limited and the only viable solution 
that minimises amenity issues has been put forward.” 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
There has been a historic Prior Approval application some 100m to the south of this site 
on the opposite side of the railway line: 
 
Application 
Number 

Description of Development Decision and Date 

TELO/2020/1172 Prior approval for the proposed 
installation of a 15m high monopole 
with ground base equipment cabinet 

Granted 31/07/2020. 
Not implemented. 

 
POLICY 
 
National Policy Guidance 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). The NPPF sets out the Government’s 
planning policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. It sets out the 
Government’s requirements for the planning system only to the extent that is relevant, 
proportionate and necessary to do so.  The NPPF increases the focus on achieving high 
quality design and states that it is “fundamental to what the planning and development 
process should achieve.” 
  
The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) adds further context to the NPPF and 
it is intended that the two documents are read together. 
 
Local Policy Guidance 
The current local policy is provided within the Coventry Local Plan 2016, which was 
adopted by Coventry City Council on 6th December 2017.  Relevant policy relating to this 
application is: 
Policy DE1 Ensuring High Quality Design 
Policy C1: Telecommunications 
Policy DS3: Sustainable Development Policy 
 
CONSULTATION 
 Highways: No objection – subject to black colour coating to match street furniture. 

Page 62



 
 

 EP: No objection – ICNIRP has been provided. 

Neighbour consultation 
Immediate neighbours and local councillors have been notified; a site notice was posted 
on 13/07/23.  
 
Six letters of objection have been received, raising the following material planning 
considerations: 
a) Health and safety concerns from EMF emissions. 
b) The mast and cabinets are unsightly/ugly and will have a detrimental visual impact 
upon the area. 
 
Within the letters received the following non-material planning considerations were 
raised, these cannot be given due consideration in the planning process: 
c) Public liability Insurance. 
d) Electricity power demand for 5G system. 
e) Need for installation questioned. 
 
Any further comments received will be reported within late representations. 
 
ASSESSMENT 
The NPPF recognises that advanced, high quality and reliable communications 
infrastructure is essential for economic growth and social well-being. Planning policies 
and decisions should support the expansion of electronic communications networks, 
including next generation mobile technology (such as 5G). Nevertheless, paragraph 115 
of the NPPF suggests that the number of masts should be kept to a minimum and where 
new sites are required (such as for new 5G networks), equipment should be 
sympathetically designed and camouflaged where appropriate. 
 
Paragraph 117 of the NPPG suggests that Applications for electronic communications 
development (including applications for prior approval under the General Permitted 
Development Order) should be supported by the necessary evidence to justify the 
proposed development. This should include: a) the outcome of consultations with 
organisations with an interest in the proposed development, in particular with the relevant 
body where a mast is to be installed near a school or college, or and b) for an addition to 
an existing mast or base station, a statement that self-certifies that the cumulative 
exposure, when operational, will not exceed International Commission guidelines on non-
ionising radiation protection; or c) for a new mast or base station, evidence that the 
applicant has explored the possibility of erecting antennas on an existing building, mast 
or other structure and a statement that self-certifies that, when operational, International 
Commission guidelines will be met. 
 
Policy DE1 of the Local Plan seeks to ensure high quality design and development 
proposals must respect and enhance their surroundings and positively contribute towards 
the local identity and character of an area. 
 
Policy C2 states “When considering notifications, planning applications and prior approval 
applications, regard will be given to the following factors: 

Page 63



 
 

a) operational requirements of the telecommunication networks and the technical 
limitations of the technology, including any technical constraints on the location of 
telecommunications apparatus; 
b) the need for the ICNIRP Guidelines (and any other relevant guidance in place at the 
time of the application) for safe emissions to be met; 
c) the potential for sharing existing masts, buildings and other structures; and 
d) the impact of the development on its surroundings with particular regard to the following 
criteria: 
i. the visual amenity, character or appearance of the surrounding area. 
ii. apparatus and associated structures sited on a building should be sited and designed 
in order to seek to minimise impact to the external appearance of the host building. 
iii. development should not have an unacceptable effect on conservation areas or 
buildings of architectural or historic interest or areas of ecological interest or areas of 
landscape value or sites of archaeological importance. 
iv. the proposed provision of landscaping.” 
 
The proposed 15m mast and associated cabinets accord with the requirements set within 
Schedule 2, Part 16, Class A. 
 
The supporting information highlights that the cell search area for alternative sites is 
extremely constrained in this location and the only viable option has been put forward. 
There are no suitable structures or properties that would support a rooftop/site 
share/upgrade installation within the designated search area.   
 
The site location is located on a main road adjacent and opposite commercial properties.   
The surrounding area south of the railway bridge is characterised by residential streets 
with limited opportunity to locate a mast without being closer to residential properties. The 
mast is therefore considered to be well sited.  
 
The applicant has confirmed that the mast and cabinets will be colour coated black (RAL 
9005) to match existing street furniture and aid assimilation. A condition is suggested to 
secure this appropriate finish. 
 
The siting and appearance of the proposed mast and cabinets are therefore considered 
acceptable.  
 
Highway Considerations 
Highways have raised no objection to the position of the installation on the public 
highway. 
 
Health Matters 
The representations received all raise concern that the mast will cause harm to humans 
and animals from emitting EMFs and that it is too close to residential properties, industrial 
premises (affecting employees) and less than 150 metres away from two children's day-
care nurseries. 
 
The applicant’s supporting information notes that Stepping Stones Nursery and Goslings 
Day Nurseries Ltd are close to the proposed site and confirms that a letter of consultation 
was sent to these nurseries prior to submission of the application with no responses 
received. 

Page 64



 
 

 
The UK Health Security Agency (UKHSA) guidance on ‘Mobile phone base stations: radio 
waves and health’ (updated 27 August 2021) states that: Independent expert groups in 
the UK and at international level have examined the accumulated body of research 
evidence. Their conclusions support the view that health effects are unlikely to occur if 
exposures are below international guideline levels. UKHSA’s main advice about radio 
waves from base stations is that the guidelines of the International Commission on Non-
Ionizing Radiation Protection (ICNIRP) should be adopted for limiting exposures. The 
ICNIRP guidelines apply to frequencies up to 300 gigahertz and cover exposures arising 
from new 5G base stations as well as from older technologies. 
 
ICNIRP is formally recognised as an official collaborating non-governmental organisation 
by the World Health Organization (WHO). The WHO states that, to date, and after much 
research performed, no adverse health effect has been causally linked with exposure to 
wireless technologies. 
 
Government guidance and established case law indicates that the planning system 
should not duplicate existing controls under other legislation and is not the place to 
determine health safeguards. It is the Governments view that if a proposed development 
conforms to International Compliance for Public Exposure Guidelines for Public Exposure 
to Electromagnetic Fields established by the International Commission on Non-Ionising 
Radiation Protection (ICNIRP), further consideration of this issue should not be 
necessary by the local authority. The Health & Safety Executive and the National 
Radiological Protection Board (now part of Public Health England) are responsible for 
monitoring and enforcing compliance with ICNIRP. The applicant has provided a 
Declaration of Conformity with ICNIRP Public Exposure Guidelines, ensuring that the 
proposed telecommunications equipment is in full compliance with the requirements of 
the radio frequency (RF) public exposure guidelines of the International Commission on 
Non-Ionising Radiation (ICNIRP), as expressed in EU Council recommendation of 12th 
July 1999 (1999/519/EDC) on the limitation of exposure of the general public to 
electromagnetic fields (0 Hz to 300 GHz)". 
 
It is central Government’s responsibility, not that of the Council or Local Planning 
Authority, to decide what measures are necessary to protect public health. The 
Government’s advice on telecommunications within the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF), Paragraph 118 states: ‘Local planning authorities must determine 
applications on planning grounds only. They should not seek to prevent competition 
between different operators, question the need for an electronic communications system, 
or set health safeguards different from the International Commission guidelines for public 
exposure.’ 
 
Residents’ concerns are noted and Officers recognise that the siting of base stations in 
residential areas can cause considerable distress. Officers will seek to avoid masts being 
location in close proximity to residential properties; however, this is on visual amenity 
rather than health grounds. As the application is supported by an ICNIRP certificate the 
LPA have no reasonable grounds to consider health matters further. 
 
Equality Implications  
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 created the public sector equality duty. Section 149 
states:-  

Page 65



 
 

 
(1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need 
to:  

a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act;  

b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it;  

c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it.  

 
Officers have taken this into account and given due regard to this statutory duty, and the 
matters specified in Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 in the determination of this 
application.  
 
There are no known equality implications arising directly from this development. 
 
Conclusion 
The proposal falls within the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 16, Class A of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) 
(GPDO) and guidance within the NPPF and therefore it is recommended that Prior 
Approval is not required and those details, having been submitted, are acceptable. 
 

CONDITIONS/REASONS 

 

1. 

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the following approved plans:  

Drg No. 002 SITE LOCATION PLAN Issue F, 210 PROPOSED SITE PLAN 
Issue F, 260 PROPOSED ELEVATION Issue F. 
 

Reason For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
  

2. 

Within one month of the installation of the antenna, associated apparatus and 
ground based cabinet(s) hereby approved, they shall have been colour 
coated Black (RAL 9005),  in accordance with the approved plans. Any 
replacement or modification shall be colour coated to match within one month 
of being carried out.  

Reason 

To ensure that the proposed development has a satisfactory external 
appearance in the interests of the visual amenities of the area in 
accordance with Policy DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
  

Page 66



Cheylesmore House

El Sub Sta

Q
U

I
N

T
O

N
 
R

O
A

D

92.0m

Leamington

P

a

r

k

 

S

i
d

e

 

H

o

u

s

e

Industrial Estate

H

O

R

N

C

H

U

R

C

H

 

C

L

O

S

E

Signal Box

1

6

Junction

Mast

Mast

1

4

1

Master: MBNL / EE: Project:

Revision / Upgrade Description:

Purpose of Issue: Issue:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Approved:

SD

DH

CDN

19/06/2023

M005 MBNL 3UK DNSW Planning E

Pole location amended

Master: MBNL / EE: Project:

Revision / Upgrade Description:

Purpose of Issue: Issue:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Approved:

SD

DH

PS

07/05/2021

M003 MBNL 3UK DNSW Planning C

Visplay Drawing Added

Master: MBNL / EE: Project:

Revision / Upgrade Description:

Purpose of Issue: Issue:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Approved:

SD

DH

PS

18/06/2021

M004 MBNL 3UK DNSW Planning D

Address Revised

Master: MBNL / EE: Project:

Revision / Upgrade Description:

Purpose of Issue: Issue:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Approved:

SD

DH

CDN

28/07/2023

M006 MBNL 3UK DNSW Planning F

Pole and cabinets colour amended

PLANNING

68359 COV179 CV0060 

F

QUINTON ROAD, CHEYLESMORE,

COVENTRY,

WEST MIDLANDS COMBINED AUTHORITY,

WEST MIDLANDS, ENGLAND,

CV3 5FE

3UK DNSW

QUINTON ROAD STREETWORKS

COV11086

 Site Name:

 Title:

 Purpose of Issue:

 Master Drawing No:

 EE Cell ID:  MBNL Cell ID:  Cell ID:

 Project:

 Issue:

 Address:

 Site ID:

WHP Telecoms

Unit 1 Maple Park,

Low Fields Avenue, Leeds

LS12 6HH

Tel: 01133023550

e-mail: info@whptelecoms.com

 Design Consultant & Principal Contractor:

WHP

v1.6

CK Hutchison

Networks (UK)

Limited

Green Park

450 Longwater Avenue

Reading

RG30 3UR

COV11086_M006

1
0

m
m

5
0

m
m

1
0

0
m

m

V 1.8

1
0

m
m

5
0

m
m

1
0

0
m

m

V 1.8

Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of

the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office

All rights reserved. © Crown Copyright licence no. 100062043

Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office

All rights reserved. © Crown Copyright licence no. 100062043

NGR  E: 433499  N: 278171

GOOGLE MAPS QR CODE

002 SITE LOCATION PLAN

GOOGLE MAPS - https://goo.gl/maps/9an4egXfg9Bj9S5f9

GOOGLE STREETVIEW - https://goo.gl/maps/Bn39hdnKiuG88S6T6

SITE AREA PLAN SITE LOCATION PLAN

Access Route:

Access Route To Site:

> > >

Site Provider's

Property Boundary:

0 25m 50

1:1250

0 1km 2

1:50,000

0
0

4
3
3
5

SITE PHOTOGRAPH

002 781

NOTES:

1. ALL DIMENSIONS IN MM UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

DIRECTIONS TO SITE:

Head north-west on M45. At Thurlaston Interchange, take the 1st exit onto

Coventry Rd/A45. At Memorial Island, take the 2nd exit onto London Rd/A45.

At the roundabout, take the 2nd exit and stay on London Rd/A45. At Tollbar

End, take the 3rd exit onto London Rd/B4110. At the roundabout, take the

1st exit and stay on London Rd/B4110. At the roundabout, take the 2nd exit

onto London Rd/A4082. At the roundabout, take the 2nd exit onto London

Rd/A4114. Turn left onto Daventry Rd. At the roundabout, take the 2nd exit

onto Quinton Rd. Follow Quinton Road and site location is on the left hand

side.

002 782

SITE LOCATION

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

P
age 67



Master: MBNL / EE: Project:

Revision / Upgrade Description:

Purpose of Issue: Issue:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Approved:

SD

DH

CDN

19/06/2023

M005 MBNL 3UK DNSW Planning E

Pole location amended

Master: MBNL / EE: Project:

Revision / Upgrade Description:

Purpose of Issue: Issue:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Approved:

SD

DH

PS

07/05/2021

M003 MBNL 3UK DNSW Planning C

Visplay Drawing Added

Master: MBNL / EE: Project:

Revision / Upgrade Description:

Purpose of Issue: Issue:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Approved:

SD

DH

PS

18/06/2021

M004 MBNL 3UK DNSW Planning D

Address Revised

Master: MBNL / EE: Project:

Revision / Upgrade Description:

Purpose of Issue: Issue:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Approved:

SD

DH

CDN

28/07/2023

M006 MBNL 3UK DNSW Planning F

Pole and cabinets colour amended

PLANNING

68359 COV179 CV0060 

F

QUINTON ROAD, CHEYLESMORE,

COVENTRY,

WEST MIDLANDS COMBINED AUTHORITY,

WEST MIDLANDS, ENGLAND,

CV3 5FE

3UK DNSW

QUINTON ROAD STREETWORKS

COV11086

 Site Name:

 Title:

 Purpose of Issue:

 Master Drawing No:

 EE Cell ID:  MBNL Cell ID:  Cell ID:

 Project:

 Issue:

 Address:

 Site ID:

WHP Telecoms

Unit 1 Maple Park,

Low Fields Avenue, Leeds

LS12 6HH

Tel: 01133023550

e-mail: info@whptelecoms.com

 Design Consultant & Principal Contractor:

WHP

v1.6

CK Hutchison

Networks (UK)

Limited

Green Park

450 Longwater Avenue

Reading

RG30 3UR

COV11086_M006

1
0

m
m

5
0

m
m

1
0

0
m

m

V 1.8

1
0

m
m

5
0

m
m

1
0

0
m

m

V 1.8

100 EXISTING SITE PLAN

EXISTING SITE PLAN

0 2m 4

1:100

NOTES:

1. ALL DIMENSIONS IN MM UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

F

o

o

t
p

a

t
h

Q
u
i
n
t
o
n
 
R

o
a
d

(
3
0
m

p
h
)

E

L

E

V

A

T

I
O

N

 
A

Existing chamber

Existing chamber

Existing chamber

Existing approx. 10.0m high streetlight

P
age 68



Master: MBNL / EE: Project:

Revision / Upgrade Description:

Purpose of Issue: Issue:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Approved:

SD

DH

CDN

19/06/2023

M005 MBNL 3UK DNSW Planning E

Pole location amended

Master: MBNL / EE: Project:

Revision / Upgrade Description:

Purpose of Issue: Issue:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Approved:

SD

DH

PS

07/05/2021

M003 MBNL 3UK DNSW Planning C

Visplay Drawing Added

Master: MBNL / EE: Project:

Revision / Upgrade Description:

Purpose of Issue: Issue:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Approved:

SD

DH

PS

18/06/2021

M004 MBNL 3UK DNSW Planning D

Address Revised

Master: MBNL / EE: Project:

Revision / Upgrade Description:

Purpose of Issue: Issue:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Approved:

SD

DH

CDN

28/07/2023

M006 MBNL 3UK DNSW Planning F

Pole and cabinets colour amended

PLANNING

68359 COV179 CV0060 

F

QUINTON ROAD, CHEYLESMORE,

COVENTRY,

WEST MIDLANDS COMBINED AUTHORITY,

WEST MIDLANDS, ENGLAND,

CV3 5FE

3UK DNSW

QUINTON ROAD STREETWORKS

COV11086

 Site Name:

 Title:

 Purpose of Issue:

 Master Drawing No:

 EE Cell ID:  MBNL Cell ID:  Cell ID:

 Project:

 Issue:

 Address:

 Site ID:

WHP Telecoms

Unit 1 Maple Park,

Low Fields Avenue, Leeds

LS12 6HH

Tel: 01133023550

e-mail: info@whptelecoms.com

 Design Consultant & Principal Contractor:

WHP

v1.6

CK Hutchison

Networks (UK)

Limited

Green Park

450 Longwater Avenue

Reading

RG30 3UR

COV11086_M006

1
0

m
m

5
0

m
m

1
0

0
m

m

V 1.8

1
0

m
m

5
0

m
m

1
0

0
m

m

V 1.8

150 EXISTING ELEVATION A

EXISTING ELEVATION A

0 2m 4

1:100

NOTES:

1. ALL DIMENSIONS IN MM UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

Ground level

Existing approx. 10.0m high streetlight

Approx. Roof Level

8m AGL

P
age 69



PLANNING

68359 COV179 CV0060 

F

QUINTON ROAD, CHEYLESMORE,

COVENTRY,

WEST MIDLANDS COMBINED AUTHORITY,

WEST MIDLANDS, ENGLAND,

CV3 5FE

3UK DNSW

QUINTON ROAD STREETWORKS

COV11086

 Site Name:

 Title:

 Purpose of Issue:

 Master Drawing No:

 EE Cell ID:  MBNL Cell ID:  Cell ID:

 Project:

 Issue:

 Address:

 Site ID:

WHP Telecoms

Unit 1 Maple Park,

Low Fields Avenue, Leeds

LS12 6HH

Tel: 01133023550

e-mail: info@whptelecoms.com

 Design Consultant & Principal Contractor:

WHP

v1.6

CK Hutchison

Networks (UK)

Limited

Green Park

450 Longwater Avenue

Reading

RG30 3UR

COV11086_M006

Master: MBNL / EE: Project:

Revision / Upgrade Description:

Purpose of Issue: Issue:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Approved:

SD

DH

CDN

19/06/2023

M005 MBNL 3UK DNSW Planning E

Pole location amended

Master: MBNL / EE: Project:

Revision / Upgrade Description:

Purpose of Issue: Issue:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Approved:

SD

DH

PS

07/05/2021

M003 MBNL 3UK DNSW Planning C

Visplay Drawing Added

Master: MBNL / EE: Project:

Revision / Upgrade Description:

Purpose of Issue: Issue:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Approved:

SD

DH

PS

18/06/2021

M004 MBNL 3UK DNSW Planning D

Address Revised

Master: MBNL / EE: Project:

Revision / Upgrade Description:

Purpose of Issue: Issue:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Approved:

SD

DH

CDN

28/07/2023

M006 MBNL 3UK DNSW Planning F

Pole and cabinets colour amended

Proposed

4G/5G

Bearing

10°

10°

130°

130°

250°

250°

Antenna

Aperture

ID

A2

A1

B2

B1

C2

C1

1
0

m
m

5
0

m
m

1
0

0
m

m

V 1.8

1
0

m
m

5
0

m
m

1
0

0
m

m

V 1.8

210 PROPOSED SITE PLAN

NOTES:

1. ALL DIMENSIONS IN MM UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

PROPOSED SITE PLAN

0 2m 4

1:100

F

o
o
t
p
a
t
h

Q
u
i
n
t
o
n
 
R

o
a
d

(
3
0
m

p
h
)

E

L

E

V

A

T

I
O

N

 
A

Proposed Phase 8 monopole c/w

wraparound cabinet at base to be

painted Black (RAL9005)

Proposed 2No. cabinets to be

painted Black (RAL9005)

Proposed G-100876 cabinet to

be painted Black (RAL9005)

Existing chamber

Existing chamber

Existing chamber

Existing approx. 10.0m high streetlight

1

5

0

0

3970

6

3

0

0

P
age 70



PLANNING

68359 COV179 CV0060 

F

QUINTON ROAD, CHEYLESMORE,

COVENTRY,

WEST MIDLANDS COMBINED AUTHORITY,

WEST MIDLANDS, ENGLAND,

CV3 5FE

3UK DNSW

QUINTON ROAD STREETWORKS

COV11086

 Site Name:

 Title:

 Purpose of Issue:

 Master Drawing No:

 EE Cell ID:  MBNL Cell ID:  Cell ID:

 Project:

 Issue:

 Address:

 Site ID:

WHP Telecoms

Unit 1 Maple Park,

Low Fields Avenue, Leeds

LS12 6HH

Tel: 01133023550

e-mail: info@whptelecoms.com

 Design Consultant & Principal Contractor:

WHP

v1.6

CK Hutchison

Networks (UK)

Limited

Green Park

450 Longwater Avenue

Reading

RG30 3UR

COV11086_M006

Master: MBNL / EE: Project:

Revision / Upgrade Description:

Purpose of Issue: Issue:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Approved:

SD

DH

CDN

19/06/2023

M005 MBNL 3UK DNSW Planning E

Pole location amended

Master: MBNL / EE: Project:

Revision / Upgrade Description:

Purpose of Issue: Issue:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Approved:

SD

DH

PS

07/05/2021

M003 MBNL 3UK DNSW Planning C

Visplay Drawing Added

Master: MBNL / EE: Project:

Revision / Upgrade Description:

Purpose of Issue: Issue:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Approved:

SD

DH

PS

18/06/2021

M004 MBNL 3UK DNSW Planning D

Address Revised

Master: MBNL / EE: Project:

Revision / Upgrade Description:

Purpose of Issue: Issue:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Approved:

SD

DH

CDN

28/07/2023

M006 MBNL 3UK DNSW Planning F

Pole and cabinets colour amended

Proposed

4G/5G

Bearing

10°

10°

130°

130°

250°

250°

Antenna

Aperture

ID

A2

A1

B2

B1

C2

C1

1
0

m
m

5
0

m
m

1
0

0
m

m

V 1.8

1
0

m
m

5
0

m
m

1
0

0
m

m

V 1.8

260 PROPOSED ELEVATION

NOTES:

1. ALL DIMENSIONS IN MM UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

PROPOSED ELEVATION

Ground level

0 2m 4

1:100

Proposed Phase 8 monopole c/w

wraparound cabinet at base to be

painted Black (RAL9005)

Proposed 2No. cabinets to be

painted Black (RAL9005)

Proposed G-100876 cabinet to

be painted Black (RAL9005)

Top of Tower +15.0m AGL

C/L of AAU +14.60m AGL

C/L of Apertures +12.70m AGL

Approx. Roof Level

8m AGL

Existing approx. 10.0m high streetlight

P
age 71



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of Previous Meeting held on 20 July 2023
	6 Application OUT/2022/2259 - Land at Browns Lane
	06a - Application OUT 2022 2259 - plans
	DWG 408218-MMD-HW-DR-0021 Coundon Wedge Access and Visibility Plan Rev P1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	0001


	Proposed Browns Lane Site Access DWG 408218-MMD-HW-XX-DR-C-0011 Rev P5.pdf
	408218-MMD-HW-XX-DR-C-0011-P5
	Browns Lane


	Proposed Wall Hill Road Site Access DWG 408218-MMD-HW-XXDR-C-0001 Rev P5.pdf
	408218-MMD-HW-XX-DR-C-0001 P5
	Wall Hill Road




	7 Application PL/2023/0001356/PAEC - 16 Quinton Road
	07a - Application  PL 2023 000135 PAEC - plans




